

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India on Revenue Sector for the year ended 31 March 2015



Government of Gujarat Report No. 4 of the year 2015

Report of the

Comptroller and Auditor General of India

on

Revenue Sector

for the year ended 31 March 2015

Government of Gujarat (*Report No. 4 of the year 2015*)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Paragraph	Page
Preface		iii
Overview		v-vii
CHAPTER –I: GENERAL		
Trend of revenue receipts	1.1	1
Analysis of arrears of revenue	1.2	4
Arrears in assessments	1.3	5
Evasion of tax detected by the Department	1.4	6
Pendency of Refund Cases	1.5	6
Response of the Government/Departments towards audit	1.6	7
Audit Planning and Results of Audit	1.7	10
Coverage of this Report	1.8	10
CHAPTER – II: VALUE ADDED TAX/ SALES	ТАХ	
Tax administration	2.1	11
Results of Audit	2.2	11
Performance Audit of "System of Registration, Assessment and Collection under VAT"	2.3	12
Non/ short levy of VAT due to misclassification	2.4	40
Short levy of VAT due to escapement of turnover	2.5	42
Non/short levy of tax/ additional tax	2.6	44
Non/short reduction/ reversal of Input Tax Credit	2.7	45
Non/ short levy of interest (VAT/ CST)	2.8	47
Non/ short levy of penalty	2.9	48
CHAPTER – III: STAMP DUTY AND REGISTRAT	ION FEES	
Tax administration	3.1	51
Results of Audit	3.2	51
Short levy of stamp duty and registration fees due to misclassification of documents	3.3	52
Non/ short levy of stamp duty and registration fees	3.4	53
Short levy of stamp duty and registration fees due to undervaluation of properties	3.5	55
CHAPTER – IV: TAXES ON VEHICLES		
Tax administration	4.1	59
Working of Internal Audit Wing	4.2	59

	Paragraph	Page						
Results of audit	4.3	59						
Audit of "Registration and safety of school buses, vans, etc. under the Motor Vehicles Act"	4.4	60						
Non-realisation of motor vehicles tax on transport vehicles	4.5	68						
CHAPTER – V: OTHER TAX AND NON-TAX RECEIPTS								
Results of audit	5.1	69						
Short levy of premium price	5.2	70						
Annexure		73						

PREFACE

This Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India for the year ended 31 March 2015 has been prepared for submission to the Governor of Gujarat under Article 151 of the Constitution of India.

The Report contains significant findings of audit of the Receipt and Expenditure of major Revenue earning Departments under the Revenue Sector conducted under the Comptroller and Auditor General's (Duties, Powers and Conditions of Service) Act, 1971 and Regulations on Audit and Accounts, 2007 issued thereunder by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India.

The instances mentioned in this Report are those, which came to notice in the course of test audit during the period 2014-15 as well as those which came to notice in earlier years, but could not be reported in the previous Audit Reports; instances relating to the period subsequent to 2014-15 have also been included, wherever necessary.

The audit has been conducted in conformity with the Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India.

OVERVIEW

This Report contains 12 paragraphs and one Performance Audit involving ₹ 154.81 crore. Some of the major findings are as mentioned below:

I. General

The total revenue receipts of the Government of Gujarat in 2014-15 were $\overline{\xi}$ 91,977.78 crore as against $\overline{\xi}$ 79,975.74 crore during 2013-14. The revenue raised by the State from tax receipts during 2014-15 was $\overline{\xi}$ 61,339.81 crore and from non-tax receipts was $\overline{\xi}$ 9,542.61 crore. State's share of divisible Union taxes and grants-in-aid from the Government of India were $\overline{\xi}$ 10,296.35 crore and $\overline{\xi}$ 10,799.01 crore respectively. Thus, the revenue raised by the State Government was 77 *per cent* of the total revenue receipts. The main sources of tax revenue during 2014-15 were value added tax/sales tax ($\overline{\xi}$ 44,145.26 crore) and Taxes and Duties on Electricity ($\overline{\xi}$ 5,877.65 crore). The main receipt under non-tax revenue came from non-ferrous mining and metallurgical industries ($\overline{\xi}$ 4,285.85 crore).

(Paragraph 1.1)

II. Value Added Tax (VAT)/Sales Tax

A Performance Audit of **System of registration**, assessment and collection **under VAT** revealed the following:

• There was absence of provisions in the GVAT Act to conduct surveys on regular basis to identify/ detect the unregistered dealers to bring them under the tax net.

(Paragraph 2.3.8.2)

• There was uneven allocation of audit assessment cases to various assessing authorities and rush of assessment in the last quarter of the fourth year.

(Paragraph 2.3.9.2 and 2.3.9.3)

• The provisions in the Notification for remission of tax on sale of oiled/de-oiled cakes created disparity between the manufacturers and traders and subsequent loss of potential revenue to the Government due to non reduction in tax credit of ₹ 3.31 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.10)

• Non-adoption of uniform policy on levy and assessment of Entry Tax on purchase of specified goods in the course of inter-State trade or commerce resulted in non-levy of entry tax of ₹ 1.30 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.11)

• Non-assessment and levy of purchase tax on goods purchased from the unregistered dealers resulted in non-levy of tax of ₹ 52.97 lakh.

(Paragraph 2.3.12)

• There was ambiguity in the entries of the list of industrial inputs.

(Paragraph 2.3.13.2)

• Application of incorrect rate of tax due to misclassification of goods resulted in short levy of tax of ₹ 16.52 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.13.3 and 2.3.13.4)

• Incorrect determination of turnover of sales resulted in short levy of tax of ₹ 24.22 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.14.3)

• There was excess allowance of input tax credit of ₹ 1.27 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.15)

 Irregularities in assessment under CST Act involved tax implication of ₹ 50.21 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.16)

• Arrears of revenue of ₹ 20,765 crore were pending for recovery as on 31 March 2015. Of these, ₹ 10,228 crore pertained to *sub judice* cases.

(Paragraph 2.3.17)

Compliance Audit

In 44 assessments of 40 dealers, there was short levy of VAT of \gtrless 2.19 crore due to misclassification of commodities.

(Paragraph 2.4)

In assessments of eight dealers, there was short levy of tax of $\gtrless 0.56$ crore due to escapement of turnover.

(Paragraph 2.5)

In five assessments of four dealers, there was non/ short levy of tax/ additional tax of \gtrless 0.57 crore.

(Paragraph 2.6)

In eight assessments of eight dealers, the Assessing Authority (AA) had either not reversed/reduced ITC or had reduced ITC less than that was due to the Government side. This had resulted in non/short reduction/reversal of ITC to the extent of ₹ 52.50 lakh.

(Paragraph 2.7)

III. Stamp Duty and registration Fees

In three Sub Registrar offices, three documents were classified on the basis of their titles and the stamp duty and registration fees were levied accordingly. Scrutiny of the recitals of these documents revealed that the documents were misclassified. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of ₹ 7.63 crore.

(Paragraph 3.3)

In two Sub Registrar offices, recitals of 12 documents revealed that unregistered deeds were executed which required levy of stamp duty and registration fees thereon. However, the SR failed to take cognizance of the recitals of the documents and did not levy stamp duty and registration fees chargeable on each such transaction. This resulted in non/ short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of ₹ 2.62 crore.

(Paragraph 3.4)

In seven Sub Registrar offices, the market value of the properties was determined incorrectly in 35 documents, which resulted in short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of \gtrless 2.32 crore.

(Paragraph 3.5)

IV. Taxes on vehicles

Audit of "Registration and safety of school buses, vans, etc. under the Motor Vehicles Act" revealed the following:

• We observed that due to inadequate maintenance of records of registration, issue of permit and fitness certificates, the Department was not in a position to properly monitor the renewal of permits and fitness certificates.

(Paragraph 4.4.3)

• The system of ensuring the compliance with the existing safety norms was not adequate.

(Paragraph 4.4.5)

• The Department was unable to curb the menace of overcrowding of school buses/ vans and auto rickshaws despite the restriction of maximum passengers that are allowed to be carried. Thus, safety of school children was compromised.

(Paragraph 4.4.6)

Operators of 312 omnibuses/maxi cabs, who kept their vehicles for use exclusively as contract carriage and 367 vehicles used for transport of goods, had neither paid tax nor filed non-use declarations for various periods between 2008-09 and 2013-14. This resulted in non-realisation of motor vehicles tax of ₹ 4.57 crore excluding interest and penalty.

(Paragraph 4.5)

V. Other Tax and Non-tax Receipts

In four Collector offices, in six cases of change of tenure of land for the period 2012-13 and 2013-14, premium price of ₹ 5.67 crore was short recovered.

(Paragraph 5.2)

CHAPTER-I GENERAL

1.1 Trend of revenue receipts

1.1.1 The tax and non-tax revenue raised by the Government of Gujarat during the year 2014-15, the State's share of net proceeds of divisible Union Taxes and duties assigned to the State and Grants-in-aid received from the Government of India during the year and the corresponding figures for the preceding four years are as mentioned in **Table 1.1.1**:

Table 1.1.1

Trend of revenue receipts

				-		(₹ in crore)
SI. No.	Particulars	2010-11	2011-12	2012-13	2013-14	2014-15
1.	Revenue raised by t	he State Gove	ernment			
	• Tax revenue	36,338.63	44,252.29	53,896.69	56,372.37	61,339.81
	• Non-tax revenue	4,915.02	5,276.52	6,016.99	7,018.31	9,542.61
	Total	41,253.65	49,528.81	59,913.68	63,390.68	70,882.42
2.	Receipts from the G	overnment of	' India			
	• Share of net proceeds of divisible Union taxes and duties	6,679.44	7,780.31	8,869.05	9,701.93	10,296.35 ¹
	• Grants-in-aid	4,430.55	5,649.87	6,445.80	6,883.13	10,799.01
	Total	11,109.99	13,430.18	15,314.85	16,585.06	21,095.36
3.	Total revenue receipts of the State Government (1 and 2)	52,363.64	62,958.99	75,228.53	79,975.74	91,977.78 ²
4.	Percentage of 1 to 3	79	79	80	79	77

(Source: Finance Accounts of the State)

The above table indicates that during the year 2014-15, the revenue raised by the State Government (₹ 70,882.42 crore) was 77 *per cent* of the total revenue receipts against 79 *per cent* in the preceding year. The balance 23 *per cent* of the receipts during 2014-15 was from the Government of India.

¹ Figures under the Heads "0020 - Corporation tax, 0021 - Taxes on Income other than corporation tax, 0028 - Other taxes on income and expenditure, 0032 - Taxes on wealth, 0037 - Customs, 0038 - Union excise duties, 0044 - Service tax, 0045 - Other taxes and duties on commodities and services", - share of net proceeds assigned to State booked in the Finance Accounts under 'A - Tax Revenue', have been excluded from revenue raised by the State and included in State's share of divisible Union taxes, in this statement.

² For details, please see **Statement No. 14**- Detailed Statement of revenue and capital receipts by minor heads of the Finance Accounts of the Government of Gujarat for the year 2014-15.

1.1.2 The details of the tax revenue raised during the period 2010-11 to 2014-15 are given in **Table 1.1.2**:

							(₹ in crore)
SI. No.	Heads of revenue	2010-11	2011-12	2012-13	2013-14	2014-15	Percentage of increase (+) or decrease (-) in 2014-15 over 2013-14
1.	Sales tax/Value Added Tax ³	20,226.78	27,259.38	34,086.69	35,685.20	38,418.73	(+) 7.66
	Central sales tax	4,666.68	3,942.93	5,377.98	5,290.86	5,726.53	(+) 8.23
2.	Taxes and duties on electricity	3,262.64	3,654.56	4,406.60	4,692.77	5,877.65	(+) 25.25
3.	Stamp duty and registration fees	3,666.24	4,670.27	4,426.93	4,749.35	5,503.34	(+) 15.88
4.	Land revenue	1,788.78	1,477.18	2,207.85	1,727.41	1,892.65	(+) 9.57
5.	Taxes on vehicles	2,003.68	2,251.03	2,276.26	2,282.81	2,695.09	(+) 18.06
6.	Taxes on goods and passengers	6.38	208.34	210.58	833.56	210.35	(-) 74.76
7.	State excise	62.97	72.11	84.91	109.82	140.27	(+) 27.73
8.	Other taxes on income and expenditure ⁴	228.22	222.18	207.80	222.22	230.87	(+) 3.89
9.	Other taxes ⁵	426.26	494.31	611.09	778.37	644.33	(-) 17.22
	Total	36,338.63	44,252.29	53,896.69	56,372.37	61,339.81	(+) 8.81

Table 1.1.2Details of tax revenue raised

(Source: Finance Accounts of the State)

- It would be seen from the above table that overall tax revenue as well as different types of tax receipts had shown upward trend during 2014-15 except receipts under "Taxes on Goods and Passengers".
- There was abnormal decrease in receipts under major head "Taxes on goods and passengers" during 2014-15 over 2013-14 mainly due to (i) decrease in receipts under the minor head "Tax Collection-Passenger Tax" and (ii) abnormal increase during 2013-14 which could not be sustained during 2014-15.
- The reasons for substantial decrease/ increase, wherever applicable though called for, were not reported by the concerned Departments.

³ Sales Tax/Value Added Tax includes tax on sales of Motor Sprit and Lubricants, Trade Tax and Other Receipts.

⁴ Other taxes on income and expenditure include "Taxes on Professions, Trades, Calling and Employment" and "Share of Net Proceeds assigned to States".

⁵ Other taxes include "Taxes on Immovable Property other than Agricultural land", "Entertainment Tax", "Luxury Tax" etc.

1.1.3 The details of the non-tax revenue raised during the period 2010-11 to 2014-15 are indicated in **Table 1.1.3**:

Details of non-tax revenue raised

							(₹ in crore)
Sl. No.	Heads of revenue	2010-11	2011-12	2012-13	2013-14	2014-15	Percentage of increase (+) or decrease (-) in 2014-15 over 2013-14
1.	Non-ferrous mining and metallurgical industries	2,019.31	1,819.64	1,847.16	1,578.34	4,285.85	(+) 171.54
2.	Interest receipts	403.88	631.89	1,325.84	1,267.18	1,011.47	(-) 20.18
3.	Major and medium irrigation	618.14	684.15	714.13	897.51	1,034.91	(+) 15.31
4.	Miscellaneous general services	62.29	69.65	(-)334.66 ⁶	90.62	26.27	(-) 71.01
5.	Other administrative services	41.11	70.27	102.22	100.32	169.07	(+) 68.53
6.	Police	149.08	138.97	163.84	177.81	214.20	(+) 20.47
7.	Medical and public health	118.11	90.76	126.34	111.88	243.57	(+) 117.71
8.	Public works	36.71	38.07	44.36	54.99	59.27	(+) 7.78
9.	Forestry and wild life	45.22	39.93	54.39	60.04	48.15	(-) 19.80
10.	Other non-tax receipts ⁷	1,421.17	1,693.19	1,973.37	2,679.62	2,449.85	(-) 8.57
	Total	4,915.02	5,276.52	6,016.99	7,018.31	9,542.61	(+) 35.97

(Source: Finance Accounts of the State)

- There was an overall increase of 35.97 *per cent* in non-tax receipts during the year 2014-15 as compared to 2013-14.
- There was abnormal increase in receipts under major head "Nonferrous mining and metallurgical industries" during 2014-15 over 2013-14. This was due to increase in receipts under the minor heads

⁶ Includes ₹ 471.87 crore on account of recovery of debt waiver (write off) granted by Government of India to Government of Gujarat for 2009-10, which remained to be adjusted in the accounts for 2011-12.

⁷ This includes receipts under "Ports and light houses", "Education, Sports, Arts and Culture", "Labour and Employment", "Housing", "Fisheries", "Village and Small Industries", "Crop Husbandry", etc.

"Mineral concession fees, rents and royalties" and "Receipts under Carbide of Calcium Rules".

- There was abnormal decrease in receipts under major head "Miscellaneous General Services" during 2014-15 over 2013-14. This was due to decrease in receipts under the minor heads "Unclaimed Deposits" and "Guarantee Fees".
- There was abnormal increase in receipts under major head "Other Administrative Services" during 2014-15 over 2013-14. This was due to increase in receipts under the minor heads "Other Receipts", "Home Guards" and "Receipts from Guest Houses, Government Hostels", etc.
- There was abnormal increase in receipts under major head "Medical and public health" during 2014-15 over 2013-14. This was due to increase in receipts under the minor heads "Receipts from Employees State Insurance Scheme" and "Medical Store Depots".
- The reasons for substantial variations, wherever applicable though called for, were not reported by the concerned Departments.

1.2 Analysis of arrears of revenue

The arrears of revenue as on 31 March 2015 on some principal heads of revenue amounted to \gtrless 22,397.30 crore of which \gtrless 9,957.32 crore was outstanding for more than five years, as detailed in the **Table-1.2**:

Table 1.2Arrears of revenue

(₹ in crore)

				((In crore)
SI. No.	Head of revenue	Total Amount outstandi ng as on 31 March 2015	Amount outstanding for more than five years as on 31 March 2015	Remarks
1	VAT/ Sales Tax	20,764.76	8,531.85	Out of total outstanding amount of ₹ 20,764.76 crore, recovery of ₹ 1,950.38 crore was covered by Revenue Recovery Certificates, recovery of ₹ 10,228.45 crore was stayed by High Court/ Other Judicial Authorities and Government, recovery of ₹ 414.80 crore was outstanding due to dealers being insolvent and details of the stages of pendency/recovery of remaining amount was not furnished by the Department.
2	Stamp Duty and Registration Fees	1,156.55	1,156.55	The concerned Department did not furnish the stages at which the arrears of revenue were pending for collection or whether the cases were referred for write off, if any, despite being requested by Audit (May/ August 2015).

	Total	22,397.30	9,957.32	
4.	Taxes on Vehicles and Taxes on Goods and passengers	335.56	161.52	The concerned Department did not furnish the stages at which the arrears of revenue were pending for collection or whether the cases were referred for write off, if any, despite being requested by Audit (May/ August 2015).
3	Taxes and duties on electricity	140.43	107.40	Out of total outstanding amount of ₹ 140.43 crore, recovery of ₹ 11.20 crore was pending with BIFR, recovery of ₹ 95.41 crore was stayed by Courts, recovery of ₹ 0.79 crore was covered by Revenue Recovery Certificates, etc.

(Sources: Information furnished by the Department)

It would be seen from the table that arrears aggregating to \gtrless 9,957.32 crore were pending for more than five years under the above four heads of revenue.

The other Department like Revenue Department (in respect of Land Revenue), and Industries and Mines Department, etc. did not furnish the details regarding arrears of revenue despite being requested in May/August 2015. As such total arrears of tax and non-tax revenue pending for collection could not be ascertained.

1.3 Arrears in assessments

The details of cases pending at the beginning of the year, cases becoming due for assessment, cases disposed off during the year and number of cases pending for finalisation at the end of the year as furnished by the Commercial Tax Department in respect of Value Added Tax/ Sales Tax and Profession Tax was as in **Table 1.3**:

Head of revenue	Opening balance	New cases due for assessment during 2014-15	Total Cases assessments disposed due off during 2014-15		Balance at the end of the year as on 31 March 2015	Percentage of disposal (col.5 to 4)					
1	2	3	4	5	6	7					
Value Added Tax/Sales Tax	1,51,333	92,317 ⁸	2,43,650	31,678	2,11,972	13.00					
Profession Tax	36,308	7,794	44,102	2,842	41,260	6.44					
Total	1,87,641	1,00,111	2,87,752	34,520	2,53,232	12.00					

Table 1.3

Arrears in assessments

(Sources: Information furnished by the Department)

It could be seen from the above table that percentage of assessments made during 2014-15 was 12 *per cent* indicating therein that the Department needs to make more efforts to dispose off cases expeditiously.

⁸ Inclusive of the assessment cases related to Central Sales Tax.

1.4 Evasion of tax detected by the Department

The details of cases of evasion of tax detected by the Department, cases finalised and the demands for additional tax raised as reported by the Department are given in **Table 1.4**:

Table	e 1.4
Evasion	of Tax

							(₹ in crore)
Sl. no.	Head of revenue	Cases pending as on 1 April 2014	Cases detected during 2014-15	Total	Number of cases in which assessment/investigation completed and additional demand with penalty etc. raised		Number of cases pending for finalisation as on 31 March
					Number	Amount of	2015
					of cases	demand	
1	Value	721	1,500	2,221	1,589	752.82	632
	Added Tax/				-		
	Sales Tax						
2	Taxes on	58,667	23,880	82,547	23,761	199.69	58,786
	Vehicles and						
	Taxes on						
	Goods and						
	passengers						
	Total	59,388	25,380	84,768	25,350	952.51	59,418

(Sources: Information furnished by the Department)

Overall 70 *per cent* cases were still pending for finalisation in the Departments.

The other Departments like Revenue Department and Industries and Mines Department etc. did not furnish the details regarding evasion of tax/revenue despite being requested in May/ August 2015.

1.5 Pendency of Refund Cases

The number of refund cases pending at the beginning of the year 2014-15, claims received during the year, refunds allowed during the year and the cases pending at the close of the year 2014-15 as reported by the Department is given in **Table 1.5**:

Table 1.5

Details of pendency of refund cases

(₹ in crore)

						, ,
Sl.	Particulars	Taxes	on	Vehicles and		l duties on
no.		Taxes	on	Goods and	electricity	
		passen	gers			
		No.	of	Amount	No. of	Amount
		cases			cases	
1	Claims outstanding at the beginning of the		194	9.37	00	0.00
	year					
2	Claims received during the year		620	6.06	05	1.76
3	Refunds made during the year		786	11.56	05	1.76
4	Balance outstanding at the end of year		28	3.87	00	0.00

(Sources: Information furnished by the Department)

(7 in crore)

The Revenue Department (in respect of Land Revenue), Commercial Tax Department and Industries and Mines Department did not furnish the details regarding claims outstanding at the beginning of the year, claims received during the year, balance outstanding at the end of year and refunds made during the year despite being requested in May/ August 2015.

1.6 Response of the Government/Departments towards audit

The Principal Accountant General (Economic and Revenue Sector Audit), Gujarat, Ahmedabad (PAG), conducts periodical inspection of the Government Departments to test check the transactions and verify the maintenance of the important accounts and other records as prescribed in the rules and procedures. These inspections are followed up with Inspection Reports (IRs) incorporating irregularities detected during the inspection and not settled on the spot, which are issued to the heads of the offices inspected with copies to the next higher authorities for taking prompt corrective action. The heads of offices/ Government are required to comply promptly on the observations contained in the IRs, rectify the defects and omissions and report compliance through initial reply to the PAG within one month from the date of receipt of the IRs. Serious financial irregularities are reported to the heads of the Departments and the Government.

Inspection Reports issued upto December 2014 disclosed that 7,262 paragraphs involving $\mathbf{\xi}$ 4,562.83 crore relating to 1,526 IRs remained outstanding at the end of June 2015 as mentioned below alongwith the corresponding figures for the preceding two years in **Table 1.6**.

Table 1.6

Particulars	June 2013	June 2014	June 2015
Number of Inspection Reports pending for settlement	3,653	3,518	1,526
Number of outstanding audit observations	13,275	12,846	7,262
Amount of revenue involved (₹ in crore)	5,736.81	7,510.40	4,562.83

Details of pending Inspection Reports

1.6.1 The Department-wise details of the IRs and audit observations outstanding as on 30 June 2015 and the amounts involved are mentioned in the **Table 1.6.1.**

Table 1.6.1

Department-wise details of IRs

Sl. no.	Name of the Department	Nature of receipts	Number of outstanding IRs	Number of outstanding audit observations	Money value involved
1	Finance (Commercial Tax)	Taxes/VAT on sales, trade etc. including Profession Tax	518	2,964	1,118.25

			Total	1,526	7,262	4,562.83
	Mines					
5	Industries	&	Mining Receipts	79	312	77.30
			Director of Petroleum	4	21	1,574.64
	Petrochemic	als				
4	Energy	&	Electricity duty	20	24	15.75
	Transport	ort Goods and Passengers				
3	Ports	&	Taxes on Vehicles and Taxes on	126	644	596.82
			Expenditure ⁹	172	533	15.79
			Valuation of Property	52	145	9.83
			Stamp duty and registration fees	415	2,027	625.60
2	Revenue		Land revenue	140	592	528.85

Audit did not receive even the first replies from the heads of office within one month from the date of issue of IRs for 28 IRs issued during 2014-15 pertaining to the Commercial Tax Department. In respect of remaining Departments, the first replies of IRs were received within one month of issue of IRs. This pendency of the IRs due to non-receipt of the replies indicates that the heads of offices and the Department need to take effective action to rectify the defects, omissions and irregularities pointed out in the IRs.

1.6.2 Departmental audit committee meetings

The Government sets up Audit Committees to monitor and expedite the progress of the settlement of IRs and paragraphs in the IRs. During 2014-15 one Audit Committee Meeting was held in respect of Energy and Petrochemicals Department in which 23 paragraphs were settled.

Audit Committee meetings in respect of Commercial Tax Department, Revenue Department, Ports and Transport Department and Industries and Mines Department were not held. However, it has been noticed that there has been a gradual decrease in the number of outstanding audit inspection reports and number of audit observations as mentioned in **Table 1.6**.

1.6.3 Non-production of records to audit for scrutiny

The programme of local audit of Tax Revenue/ Non-tax Revenue offices is drawn up sufficiently in advance and intimations are issued, usually one month before the commencement of audit, to the Departments to enable them to keep the relevant records ready for audit scrutiny.

During the year 2014-15 as many as 1,820 assessment files, returns, refunds, registers and other relevant records, which had become due for audit in the year, were not made available to audit. Break-up of these cases is given in **Table 1.6.3**:

⁹ Money value of the paragraphs included in IRs pertaining to Revenue Department issued by AG (General and Social Sector Audit), Gujarat, Rajkot has not been considered.

Name of the office/Department	Year in which it was to be audited	Number of cases not audited
Sales Tax/VAT	2014-15	1,310
Land Revenue	2014-15	510
	Total	1,820

Table 1.6.3Details of non-production of records

1.6.4 Response of the Departments to the draft audit paragraphs

The draft audit paragraphs proposed for inclusion in the Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India are forwarded by the PAG to the Principal Secretaries/Secretaries of the concerned Department, drawing their attention to audit findings and requesting them to send their response within six weeks. The fact of non-receipt of the replies from the Departments/ Government is invariably indicated at the end of such paragraphs included in the Audit Report.

Twelve draft paragraphs and one Performance Audit Report were sent to the Principal Secretaries/Secretaries of the respective Department by name between May and September 2015. The Principal Secretaries/Secretaries of the Department did not send replies to four draft paragraphs including Performance Audit despite issue of reminders (July 2015) and the same have been included in this Report without the response of the Department.

1.6.5 Follow up on the Audit Reports - summarised position

The internal working system of the Public Accounts Committee, notified in March 1966, laid down that after the presentation of the Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India in the Legislature Assembly, the Departments shall initiate action on the audit paragraphs and the action taken explanatory notes thereon should be submitted by the Government within three months of tabling the Report, for consideration of the Committee. In spite of these provisions, the explanatory notes on audit paragraphs of the Reports were being delayed inordinately.

Three hundred and two paragraphs (including performance audit reports) included in the Reports of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India on the Revenue Receipts and Revenue Sector of the Government of Gujarat for the years ended 31 March 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 were placed before the State Legislature Assembly between March 2010 and March 2015. Action taken explanatory notes in respect of 127 paragraphs from five Departments (Commercial Tax Department, Revenue Department, Ports and Transport Department, Energy and Petrochemicals Department and Industries and Mines Department) had not been received from the Audit Report for the year ended 31 March 2009 onwards so far (October 2015).

1.7 Audit Planning and Results of Audit

The unit offices under various Departments are categorised into high, medium and low risk according to their revenue realisation, past trends of audit observations and other parameters. The annual audit plan is prepared on the basis of risk analysis which *inter-alia* include critical issues in Government revenues and tax administration i.e. budget, white paper on state finances, reports of the Finance Commission (Central and State), recommendations of the taxation reforms committee, statistical analysis of the revenue earnings during the past five years, features of the tax administration, audit coverage and its impact during past five years etc.

During the year 2014-15, the audit universe comprised 698 auditable entities, of which audit of 185 entities was planned and 182 entities were audited during the year, which is 26 *per cent* of the total auditable entities.

Besides the compliance audit mentioned above, one performance audit was also taken up to examine the efficacy of the tax administration of these receipts.

Position of local audit conducted during the year

Test check of the records of 182 units of Commercial Tax Department, Revenue Department, Ports and Transport Department, Energy and Petrochemicals Department and Industries and Mines Department conducted during the year 2014-15 revealed under assessment/short levy/loss of revenue amounting to ₹ 264.12 crore in 1,028 cases.

During the course of the year, the concerned Departments accepted under assessment and other irregularities of ₹ 13.27 crore involved in 203 cases which were pointed out in audit during 2014-15 and earlier years. The Departments recovered ₹ 8.95 crore in 182 cases at the instance of audit.

1.8 Coverage of this Report

This report contains 12 paragraphs and one Performance Audit of "System of registration, assessment and collection under VAT", relating to irregular/excess allowance of ITC, short/non-levy of VAT/CST/premium price/ stamp duty/ registration fees and other irregularities involving financial effect of ₹ 154.81 crore.

The concerned Departments/Government have accepted audit observations involving \gtrless 5.58 crore out of which \gtrless 1.42 crore have been recovered. The replies in the remaining cases have not been received (October 2015). These are discussed in the succeeding Chapters II to V.

CHAPTER-II VALUE ADDED TAX/ SALES TAX

2.1 Tax Administration

Value Added Tax laws and rules framed thereunder are administered at the Government level by the Additional Chief Secretary (Finance). The Commissioner of Commercial Tax (CCT) is the head of the Commercial Tax Department (CTD), who is assisted by one Special CCT, four Additional CCTs, 11 Joint CCTs, 23 Deputy CCTs, 103 Assistant CCTs and Commercial Tax Officers (CTOs). They are assisted by Commercial Tax Inspectors and other allied staff for administering the relevant Tax laws and rules.

2.2 **Results of Audit**

We test checked the records of 84 units of Commercial Tax Department during 2014-15 and noticed underassessment of tax and other irregularities involving ₹ 190.72 crore in 510 cases which fall under the categories mentioned in **Table 2.2**:

Sl. No.	Category	No. of cases	Money Value (₹ in crore)
1	Performance Audit of System of Registration, Assessment and Collection under VAT	1	124.21
2	Non/short levy of tax, interest and penalty due to application of incorrect rate of tax and mistake of computation	294	37.39
3	Irregular /excess grant of set-off, Input tax credit and grant of incorrect concession/exemption	136	9.58
4	Other irregularities	79	19.54
	Total	510	190.72

Table 2.2

During the course of the year, the Department accepted underassessment of tax and other irregularities of ₹ 6.63 crore in 116 cases, which were pointed out in audit during 2014-15 and earlier years. An amount of ₹ 2.31 crore was recovered in 95 cases.

A Performance Audit of **System of Registration, Assessment and Collection under VAT** involving ₹ 124.21 crore and few illustrative audit observations involving ₹ 7.55 crore are mentioned in the succeeding paragraphs.

2.3 Performance Audit of System of Registration, Assessment and Collection under VAT

Highlights

• There was absence of provisions in the GVAT Act to conduct surveys on regular basis to identify/ detect the unregistered dealers to bring them under the tax net.

(Paragraph 2.3.8.2)

• There was uneven allocation of audit assessment cases to various assessing authorities and rush of assessment in the last quarter of the fourth year.

(Paragraph 2.3.9.2 and 2.3.9.3)

• The provisions in the Notification for remission of tax on sale of oiled /de-oiled cakes created disparity between the manufacturers and traders and subsequent loss of potential revenue to the Government due to non reduction in tax credit of ₹ 3.31 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.10)

• Non-adoption of uniform policy on levy and assessment of Entry Tax on purchase of specified goods in the course of inter-State trade or commerce resulted in non-levy of entry tax of ₹ 1.30 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.11)

• Non-assessment and levy of purchase tax on goods purchased from the unregistered dealers resulted in non-levy of tax of ₹ 52.97 lakh.

(Paragraph 2.3.12)

• There was ambiguity in the entries of the list of industrial inputs.

(Paragraph 2.3.13.2)

• Application of incorrect rate of tax due to mis-classification of goods resulted in short levy of tax of ₹ 16.52 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.13.3 and 2.3.13.4)

• Incorrect determination of turnover of sales resulted in short levy of tax of ₹ 24.22 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.14.3)

• There was excess allowance of input tax credit of ₹ 1.27 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.15)

 Irregularities in assessment under CST Act involved tax implication of ₹ 50.21 crore.

(Paragraph 2.3.16)

• Arrears of revenue of ₹ 20,765 crore were pending for recovery as on 31 March 2015. Of these, ₹ 10,228 crore pertained to *sub judice* cases.

(Paragraph 2.3.17)

2.3.1 Introduction

The Gujarat Value Added Tax Act, 2003 (GVAT Act) and the Gujarat Value Added Tax Rules, 2006 (GVAT Rules) framed thereunder govern the levy, assessment and collection of Value Added Tax (VAT) in the State. Under GVAT Act, tax is levied at each stage of sales with allowance of credit of tax paid on purchases (called input tax credit) to nullify cascading effect of multiple taxation. Thus, all the registered dealers are liable to pay tax only on value addition. The GVAT Act is administered by the Commercial Tax Department (the Department) of the Government of Gujarat (GoG).

The GVAT Act provides for registration of dealers, filing of periodical returns, self assessment by the dealers and audit assessment of the cases selected by the Department to ascertain the correctness of levy and payment of tax etc. The relevant provisions in the GVAT Act are briefly mentioned as under:



Section 21 of the GVAT Act stipulates that any dealer whose total turnover exceeded threshold limit of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ five lakhs and taxable turnover exceeded $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 10 thousand in a year shall not carry on business as a dealer unless he possesses a valid certificate of registration. The dealers whose turnover does not exceed the threshold limit or dealing in tax free goods mentioned in Schedule I of the Act, can however, carry on the business as un-registered dealer.

Self-Assessment by the Dealers Section 29 of the Act stipulates that every registered dealer shall furnish a correct and complete Return in respect of the transactions made by him in Form-201/202. Further, Section 33 of the Act stipulates submission of an Annual Return in Form 205 containing the details of the Self Assessment made by the dealer. The form is supported by the necessary statutory forms and audited accounts.

Audit Assessment by the Department Section 34 of the Act stipulates that in the cases of dealers, where the Commissioner is not satisfied with the bonafides of any claim of tax credit, exemption, refund, deduction, concession, rebate or genuineness of any declaration or evidence furnished in support thereof, shall be subject to audit assessment by the Department.

Collection of tax

Section 42 of the Act stipulates that the amount of tax payable by a dealer on finalisation of the assessment shall be paid within 30 days from the date of service of demand notice. In case of default in the payment, the tax shall be recovered as arrears of revenue under the Gujarat Land Revenue Code.

2.3.2 Trend of revenue collection

The Commercial Tax receipts *vis-à-vis* total tax receipts of the Government of Gujarat during the period 2010-11 to 2014-15 were as mentioned in **Table 2.3.2**:

			(₹ in crore)_
Year	Total Tax receipts of the State	Commercial Tax receipts	Percentage of Commercial Tax to total Tax receipts
2010-11	36,339	24,893	67
2011-12	44,252	31,202	71
2012-13	53,897	39,465	73
2013-14	56,372	40,976	73
2014-15	61,340	44,145	72

2

Thus, the total tax receipts of the Department increased from ₹ 24,893 crore to ₹ 44,145 crore registering an increase of 77.34 *per cent* during the last five years.

Reasons for selection of the Performance Audit

During our local audit, we have come across various system as well as compliance deficiencies. The Government of India (GoI) is planning to implement the Goods and Service Tax (GST), so it was felt appropriate to conduct Performance Audit (PA) to address the system deficiencies in the VAT registration, assessment and collection for better implementation of upcoming GST.

2.3.3 Organisational set-up

The Value Added Tax is administered by the Commercial Tax Department (the Department). The Department functions under the control and supervision of the Additional Chief Secretary, Finance Department, Government of Gujarat. The Department is headed by Commissioner of Commercial Tax (CCT). He is assisted by a Special Commissioner and four Additional Commissioners.

The Department has 11 Divisions, 25 Range offices and 103 Unit offices headed by Joint Commissioners (JCCT), Deputy Commissioners (DCCT) and Assistant Commissioners (ACCT) respectively. There are seven Special Registration Units¹ (SRUs) responsible for registration of dealers. Apart from above, there are eight Corporate Cells at CCT office and 13 Corporate Cells in 11 Divisions, headed by DCCT. The Joint Commissioner is the administrative head of the division while the DCCT and ACCT are responsible for audit assessment of the dealers.

¹ There are seven SRUs, 2 at Ahmedabad and one each at Bhavnagar, Gandhinagar, Rajkot, Surat and Vadodara, which are created for the purpose of registration of dealers. The registration of the dealers in remaining offices is being done by the concerned ACCT offices.

2.3.4 Audit Objectives

We conducted the Performance Audit with a view to ascertain whether:

- the system of registration of dealers is efficient and effective to bring the eligible dealers into the tax net;
- the criteria for selection of cases for audit assessment was formulated on the basis of risk assessment and the cases were selected accordingly;
- the audit assessment was conducted properly within the stipulated timeframe and additional dues, if any, were recovered as prescribed under the Act/Rules; and
- the system of internal control was adequate and effective and the monitoring mechanism was functioning effectively.

2.3.5 Audit Criteria

The audit criteria are derived from the following Acts and also the Rules made thereunder which govern the process of system of registration, assessment and collection under VAT by the Department:

- i The Gujarat Value Added Tax Act, 2003
- ii The Gujarat Value Added Tax Rules, 2006
- iii The Central Sales Tax Act, 1956
- iv The Gujarat Tax on Entry of Specified Goods into Local Area Act, 2001
- v The Gujarat Sales Tax Act, 1969
- vi Guidelines/manual/instructions issued by the Department.

2.3.6 Scope of Audit and Methodology

We conducted the Performance Audit (PA) of "System of registration, assessment and collection under VAT" during January to June 2015 covering the period from 2010-11 to 2014-15.

We selected 15 offices (10 ACCT offices and five Corporate Cells) involving revenue of ₹ 14,839 crore. The units were selected on the basis of the maximum revenue earned during 2013-14 and their geographical location in such a manner that the sample selected represented the picture of the entire State. The revenue earned by these selected units was 36.21 *per cent* of total revenue of Commercial Tax Department during 2013-14 of ₹ 40,976 crore. In addition to above we also selected four SRUs² out of seven SRUs and office of the CCT.

The Department had assessed 7,650 cases in these 15 selected offices during 2013-14 and 2014-15 from which we selected 3,438 cases for test check based on the following criteria:

² **SRU**: Division 1 and 2 Ahmedabad, Division 5 Vadodara, Vapi unit

Particulars of cases having	Number of cases assessed	Percentage of selection	Number of cases selected/ audited
Turnover in excess of ₹ five crore	2,363	100	2,363
Turnover between ₹ two and ₹ five crore	953	50	489
Turnover between ₹ 50 lakh and ₹ two crore	1,228	20	261
Turnover below ₹ 50 lakh	3,106	10	325
Total	7,650		3,438

Table 2.3.6

We conducted an entry conference on 12 March 2015 with the Commissioner of Commercial Tax, Gujarat State, wherein scope and methodology to be adopted in conducting the PA was explained to the departmental officers. The Draft Audit Report was forwarded to the Department and to the Government in September 2015. An exit conference was held on 19 October 2015, wherein major findings of the PA were discussed with the Commissioner of Commercial Tax, Gujarat State. The replies received during exit conference and at other points of time have been appropriately commented upon in the relevant paragraphs of the report.

The audit assessment finalised prior to 2013-14 had already been audited and scrutinised by the statutory auditor in the respective years. As such, the records of audit assessment finalised during 2013-14 and 2014-15 were checked during PA. Performance Audits relating to arrears of revenue and self assessment had been featured in the Audit Reports of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India for the year 2012-13 and 2013-14 respectively. These are under discussion in the PAC and as such cases relating to arrears of revenue and self assessment have been excluded from the scope of audit for this PA.

2.3.7 Acknowledgement

The Indian Audit and Accounts Department acknowledges the co-operation extended by the Department for providing necessary information and records required for the preparation of the Report.

Audit findings

2.3.8 Registration

Section 21 of the GVAT Act stipulates that any dealer whose total turnover exceeded threshold limit of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ five lakhs and taxable turnover exceeded $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 10 thousand in a year shall not carry on business as a dealer unless he possesses a valid certificate of registration.

A dealer is required to apply for registration before the registering authority in the Commercial Tax Department in Form-101, to obtain a certificate of registration. The Department is required to issue a provisional registration certificate within three working days from the date of receipt of the application. After conducting the verification of the information/particulars, furnished in the Application Form, by the Department, the provisional registrations are converted into permanent registration certificates within a period of 30 days. With effect from 1 December 2011, the Department has provided facility of online registration. Thus, the dealers can apply for registration certificate through the Value Added Tax Information System³ (*VATis*).

We noticed that 1,63,545 dealers had applied for registration certificates during 2010-15 and in all these cases the Department had issued registration certificates within the prescribed time limit indicating that the system is working efficiently and the process of getting registration certificate was easy and dealer friendly.

2.3.8.1 Discrepancies in the figures of registered dealers

"Statistical Profile" is a publication brought out by the Commercial Tax Department indicating the information relating to various activities of the Department. This includes the data relating to the registration of the dealers.

As per the information furnished by the Department to audit, the number of registered dealers increased from 3,93,158 to 4,70,319 registering an increase of 19.63 *per cent* during the period 2010-11 to 2014-15. However, we noticed variance in figures of registered dealers mentioned in the Statistical Profile published by the Department and that furnished by the Department to us for the period 2010-11 to 2014-15 as mentioned in the **Chart 2.3.8.1**:



Chart 2.3.8.1

The Statistical Profile for the year 2014-15 has not been prepared so far. As would be seen from the above there has been variance between the two sets of

³ The IT system of the Commercial Tax Department for filing and processing of returns and other works

figures in each year. However, the difference in figures was very wide during 2013-14. The Department may reconcile the figures and furnish/depict it correctly.

The Department in the exit conference stated that the figures would be reconciled and reasons for deviation would be intimated to audit.

2.3.8.2 Identification of unregistered dealers for registration and Results of Amnesty Scheme

Survey is an important tool for identification of those unregistered dealers who are liable to be registered under the GVAT Act. In this regard a mention was made for devising a system for identification and registration of unregistered dealers in Paragraph No. 2.2.8.1 and 2.2.8.4 of the report of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India for the year 2008-09. No efforts were found on records or produced to audit to indicate that the Department had made any effort to identify and register the unregistered dealers till October 2014. The efforts made after October 2014 for registration of dealers are briefly discussed as follows.

Amnesty Scheme

The Government announced an amnesty scheme in October 2014 which *inter alia* provides option for the registration of unregistered civil works contractors and developers by remission of interest and penalty. Under this scheme, upto March 2015, 938 dealers have opted/applied for registration retrospectively from the date of commencement of business. The dealers deposited tax of ₹ 31.58 crore under this scheme. Thus, though the Department was aware of the fact that business was being carried out by the unregistered dealers, it had made no efforts to identify and register the dealers.

Instructions for survey

The Additional Commissioner (Enforcement) in October 2014 had issued instructions to the concerned JCCT/DCCT/ ACCT for conducting surveys in their jurisdictional area to identify the unregistered dealers (URDs) to bring them under tax net. However, in all the units test checked, the Department had not conducted any survey to identify and bring the URDs into tax net, even after issuance of instructions in October 2014. This indicates that the Department was not following its own instructions and no system for implementing these instructions was found on record.

The results of the Amnesty Scheme underlines the need for conducting surveys on regular basis as the possibility of the dealers other than works contract dealers having remained outside the tax net cannot be ruled out. Further, there is no provision for conducting such surveys in the GVAT Act, though such a provision exists in the Maharashtra VAT Act (Section 66).

The Department in the exit conference stated that though there is no provision in the GVAT Act for conducting survey for identification of unregistered dealers, the data to identify the unregistered dealers are being gathered from various sources such as Customs Offices, Sub-Registrar Offices, Municipal Corporations, etc. The Department further stated in the exit conference that they are going to engage Indian Institute of Management (IIM) Ahmedabad to get the trends in various sectors so that sector specific data of income may be available with the Department. Thus, the fact remains that no regular system had been put in place by the Department to monitor the registration of the URDs at periodical intervals.

Department may put in place a suitable regulatory mechanism for bringing the unregistered dealers under the tax net.

2.3.9 Finalisation of audit assessments by the Department

2.3.9.1 Section 34(2) of the GVAT Act provides for audit assessment, where the Commissioner is not satisfied with the bonafides of any claim of tax credit, exemption, refund, deduction, concession, rebate, or genuineness of any declaration or evidence furnished by a dealer in support thereof with self-assessment (i.e. returns). For the purpose of selection of dealers for audit assessment, the Department generates tasks each year on the basis of criterion prescribed under Rule 31(3) of the GVAT Rules, such as total turnover (in excess of ₹ 10 crore), annual tax payable (exceeding ₹ 25 lakh), input tax credit exceeding 10 *per cent* (claimed compared to the previous year) etc and the other criteria to be fixed by the Department under this rule from time to time.

The periodical returns are required to be filed by the dealers to their jurisdictional ACCT unit offices. The records of such returns are also required to be maintained by the jurisdictional officers. The Commissioner of Commercial Tax (CCT) office collects the year wise data, on the basis of annual returns furnished by the dealers, from the ACCT Offices falling under the prescribed categories wherein details of turnover of sale/purchase, amount of tax credit, amount of tax payable, exemptions availed by dealers, Units in Special Economic Zone (SEZ) etc. are furnished. The cases of dealers are selected for audit assessment on the basis of this data. Further, the Department had selected 8.68 to 16.06 *per cent* of live dealers for audit assessment during the period 2010-11 to 2014-15. Consequently, majority of the dealers remained out of purview of audit assessment. In such a scenario, the selection process plays an important role to ensure selection of appropriate cases for audit assessment.

The total number of dealers *vis- a- vis* cases selected under audit assessment were as mentioned in **Table 2.3.9.1**:

Year	Number of live dealers	Number of dealers whose details were furnished by the unit offices in prescribed categories	Number of cases selected for audit assessment	Percentage of 4 to 2
1	2	3	4	5
2010-11	3,93,158	Not made available	34,135	8.68
2011-12	4,11,989	1,88,674	43,200	10.49
2012-13	4,26,641	$2,22,482^4$	56,430	13.23
2013-14	3,98,980	2,94,264	64,080	16.06
2014-15	4,70,336	3,15,555	50,819	10.80

Table 2.3.9.1

(Source: Data furnished by the Department)

We scrutinised the process of selection of cases for audit assessment and observed that the Department had prescribed comprehensive categories for the collection of data of dealers for audit assessment. In March 2015, the Department has generated the task for audit assessment for the period 2012-13 by selecting all the cases having turnover above \gtrless 10 crore and also in respect of remaining cases certain parameters based on risk assessment such as provisional assessment, amount of tax credit claimed, decrease in tax payable compared to previous year etc. were applied. Thus, Department had selected the cases in accordance with the prescribed criteria.

2.3.9.2 Allotment of cases to different assessing authorities

The cases selected for audit assessment by the CCT office were being allotted by the jurisdictional JCCT to different assessing authorities (AAs). The Department had informed that on an average 10, 10 and 5 cases per month are to be allotted to each CTO, ACCT and DCCT respectively for audit assessment. A comparison of these norms with the actual cases allotted in 15 selected offices finalised by the AAs during the year 2013-14 and 2014-15 revealed as mentioned in **Table 2.3.9.2**:

⁴ Excluding dealers of Division-6 Bhavnagar

Assessing Authority	Average number of cases to be assigned to each AA by the Department		Maximum and minimum number of cases found to have been finalised by each assessing authority by audit		Upper half average cases ⁵
			Minimum Maximum		Lower half
	Monthly	Annually	Annually	Annually	average cases ⁶
СТО	10	120	8	298	156
					71
ACCT	10	120	23	222	158
					47
DCCT	5	60	30	94	70
					30

Table 2.3.9.2

(Source: As per information furnished by the Department and data collected from the 15 test checked offices)

It is evident from the above details that:

- The allotment of cases to various AAs varied from 8 to 298 cases in respect of CTOs, from 23 to 222 cases in respect of ACCTs and from 30 to 94 cases in respect of DCCTs.
- In respect of two⁷ ACCTs, the number of cases assessed was 222 and 208, while in case of eight ACCTs of five⁸ units allotment was below 100 cases.

Thus, the average number of cases assigned to the AAs was not in consonance with the criteria fixed by the Department itself. In such a situation some of the AAs were over burdened and consequently the possibility of adverse impact on the quality of assessment cannot be ruled out.

The CCT in exit conference stated that the contention of audit was reasonable and the allotment of cases to various AAs for audit assessment would be rationalised in future.

2.3.9.3 Delay in issue of notices and finalisation of audit assessments

Section 33(3)(c) of the GVAT Act provides for issuance of notice for audit assessment within two years from the date of closure of the financial year. Further, Section 34(9) provides for completion of audit assessment of the selected cases within four years from the end of their financial year.

The details regarding selection of cases for audit assessment and finalisation of assessments are as mentioned in **Table 2.3.9.3**:

⁵ The average in respect of half number of AAs who were allotted more cases than the remaining half.

⁶ The average in respect of half number of AAs who were allotted less cases than the remaining half.

⁷ ACCT-104 Gandhidham, 94 Rajkot

⁸ ACCT-57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 58, 65 Surat, 74 Vapi

Financial year	Month of task generation	Month of issue of notices to the dealers for audit assessment	Month to appear for audit assessment as per notices	Completion of assessment in most of the cases	Number of cases of task generated
2008-09	February 2011	March 2011	April 2011	2012-13	34,135
2009-10	February 2012	March 2012	April 2012	2013-14	43,200
2010-11	February 2013	March 2013	April 2013	2014-15	56,430
2011-12	February 2014	March 2014	April 2014	Pending	64,080
2012-13	February 2015	March 2015	April/May 2015	Pending	50,819
2013-14	Pending	Pending	Pending	Pending	

Table 2.3.9.3

(Source: Data furnished by the Department and unit offices)

Thus, cases for audit assessment were selected and notices for their assessment were issued by the Department in the last quarter of the second year from the end of the financial year i.e. just prior to the lapse of the time period.

We observed that the AAs issued notices to all the dealers in the month of March every year with the instruction to appear for audit assessment within 15 to 30 days of issuance of notices with books of accounts and other supporting documents.

We further observed that the assessments in most of the cases were finalised in the fourth year from the end of the financial year as would be revealed from the following data.

In nine⁹ ACCT offices out of 31,772 cases, 12,022 cases i.e. 38 *per cent* cases and in three¹⁰ DCCT offices, out of 414 cases, 277 cases i.e. 67 *per cent* cases were assessed in the last quarter of the fourth year. Information was not provided by the remaining offices.

Thus, in absence of a timely and rational approach for audit assessment, the Department had to resort to rush of assessment in the last quarter of the fourth year from the end of the financial year to avoid cases becoming time barred. Such approach by the Department might have hampered the quality of assessment and loss of potential revenue cannot be ruled out. There is a tremendous scope to streamline the existing system. Audit has noticed a number of discrepancies in the audit assessment finalised by the Department. A few of these are mentioned in the succeeding paragraphs.

The Department may ensure proper allocation of cases for audit assessment among various AAs and prescribe monthly/quarterly targets of audit assessments to the various AAs to ensure that flow of assessments is streamlined.

 ⁹ 9,21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 94 Rajkot, 58, 65 Surat, 41 Vadodara, 74 Vapi

¹⁰ Corporate Cell-2 Ahmedabad, 1 Surat, 1 Vadodara

The CCT stated that in future the statutory notices to intimate the dealers whose cases have been selected for audit assessments would be issued well in advance and later, dealers would be called for assessments by issuing notices under the work plan. He further stated that due to absence of workplan in previous years, the AAs used to assess a large number of cases in last quarter of the year. From the current year, the assessment workload has been rationalised in workplans for each officer and the assessments are being done in consonance with these plans so that rush of assessments in the last quarter can be avoided.

2.3.10 Inadequate provisions in Notification for remission of tax

Under Section 41 of the GVAT Act, the Government vide notification dated 18.05.2006 remitted the whole of tax payable by a registered dealer on the sale of oil cakes and de-oiled cakes of cotton seeds. Further, there is no restriction in the notification for allowance of remission where such cakes are subsequently dispatched by the purchasers in the course of branch transfer outside the State.

Under Section 11(3)(b) of the GVAT Act, the tax credit of taxable goods purchased within the State and used in manufacturer of oiled and de-oiled cakes of cotton seed is reducible at the rate of four *per cent* of the purchases where a manufacturer dispatched such cakes in the course of branch transfer outside the State. However, in case, a manufacturer makes intra-state sale of such cakes and subsequently local purchasing dealer makes branch transfer outside the State, the ITC was not reduced from the manufacturer. Also the local dealer was not liable to pay tax. The mechanism is further illustrated as under:



We observed in three cases pertaining to two offices¹¹ that the dealers had purchased oiled/de-oiled cakes of cotton seed of ₹ 82.83 crore from the manufacturers within the State. The dealer despatched these cakes to their branches outside the State. The tax credit of local purchases of goods used in

¹¹ ACCT-32 Vijapur, 94 Rajkot

the manufacture of such cakes was availed by the manufacturers while as a result of remission, the output tax was not paid on intra-State sale of such cakes which was subsequently despatched to the branches outside the State without payment of tax. Thus, the tax credit of goods used in manufacture of cakes which were despatched to the branches outside the State by traders could not be reduced. This involved non-reduction of tax credit to the extent of ₹ 3.31 crore.

Thus, the provisions in the Notification for remission of tax, created disparity between the manufacturers and the traders of such cakes and subsequent loss of potential revenue to the Government due to non reduction in tax credit.

The Government may consider inserting provisions in GVAT Act for levy of purchase tax on purchases of oiled/de-oiled cakes of cotton seeds which are disposed off other than sale/resale within the State.

In the exit conference, the CCT accepted the fact and stated that relevant provisions in the notification would be amended to remove the disparity.

2.3.11 Non-adoption of uniform policy on levy and assessment of Entry Tax

Section 3 of the Gujarat Tax on Entry of Specified Goods into Local Area Act 2001, provides for levy of entry tax on 'motor vehicles' and 'yarn' of all types (except Nylon Yarn, Polyester Viscose Yarn and Cotton Yarn) at the rate of 15 *per cent* and five *per cent* respectively. Further, Section 8 of the Act, *ibid*, provides for assessment for entry tax, subject to few conditions.

Section 11(5) of the GVAT Act, stipulates that the tax credit of entry tax shall not be admissible for purchases of goods used in manufacture of tax free goods and vehicles of any type and its equipment except when purchasing dealer is engaged in the business of sales of such vehicles. Further, as per explanation below Rule 14(5)(5) of the GVAT Rules, 2006, for the purpose of calculating the tax credit, where the amount of tax under the Entry Tax Act is shown payable by the dealer in his return for a tax period, then such amount of tax shall be considered to have been paid in such tax period.

We observed that the Department was not following any uniform policy regarding levy and separate assessment of entry tax. In 15 assessment cases pertaining to three offices¹² the AAs had finalised separate assessments for entry tax on inter-State purchases of motor vehicles where the entry tax was paid by the dealers. While in 29 assessment cases of seven offices¹³ pertaining to period 2009-10 to 2011-12, where the entry tax was not paid by the dealers, the AAs had not made any separate assessment under Entry Tax Act on inter-State purchases of motor vehicles, kota stone, marble etc. worth $\overline{\xi}$ 1,471.69 crore involving tax implication of $\overline{\xi}$ 194.16 crore. Thus, the Department was finalising the assessments separately in those cases only where the entry tax was paid by the dealers.

¹² ACCT-56 Bharuch, DCCT Corp-1 Surat, Corp-2 Surat

¹³ ACCT-94 Rajkot, 56 Bharuch, 65 Surat, 74 Vapi, DCCT Corp-1,2 Surat, Corp-1 Vadodara

As a result of non adoption of uniform policy on levy and separate assessments for entry tax, we observed in five assessments of four dealers pertaining to three offices¹⁴ that the dealers had effected inter-State purchases of motor vehicles viz. Dumpers, Loader etc. and yarn worth ₹ 10.46 crore where Dumper, Loader etc. were used in the execution of works contract and yarn was used in manufacture of tax free fabrics. Though, entry tax was leviable on above purchases, tax credit of entry tax in respect of these items, if paid was not admissible as per provisions above. However, neither the dealers paid entry tax at the time of purchase of such goods nor the AAs made a separate assessment for entry tax at the time of audit assessment. This resulted in non-levy of entry tax to the extent of ₹ 1.30 crore excluding interest and penalty.

- Further, in case of one dealer, pertaining to ACCT-56, Bharuch, though Assessing Officer had assessed entry tax of ₹ 5.17 lakh on inter-State purchases of backhoe loader and concrete mixer, DCCT (Appeal) stayed (November 2010) the recovery stating that levy of entry tax on above goods was *sub-judice* before the Honourable High Court of Gujarat. The judgement was delivered (July 2014) by the Hon'ble HC in favour of revenue, however, the Department had not effected the above recovery till date.
- Entry tax is leviable on all types of yarn except nylon yarn, polyester viscose yarn and cotton yarn.

Two dealers had effected inter-State purchases of yarn and chemicals worth $\mathbf{\xi}$ 4.06 crore. There was nothing in the records about the kind of yarn purchased by the dealers. In absence of this audit could not ascertain the liability of levy of entry tax on this yarn.

Thus, in absence of uniform policy on levy and assessment of entry tax it could not be ascertained whether entry tax leviable, wherever applicable was paid by the dealers or not.

The Department may adopt a uniform policy for levy and assessment of tax separately under the Entry Tax Act 2001, so that possibility of leakage of entry tax, if any, can be plugged in.

In the exit conference, the CCT accepted (October 2015) the audit contention and stated that the levy and assessment of entry tax would be ensured in each case and necessary changes in the prescribed forms of payment and returns of entry tax would be introduced after due deliberations.

2.3.12 Non-levy of purchase tax on purchases from unregistered dealers

2.3.12.1 Section 9(1) of the GVAT Act provides for levy of purchase tax on purchases made from unregistered dealers (URD). As per Section 11 of the GVAT Act, tax credit shall not be admissible where the goods are used in manufacture of tax free goods or in lump-sum works contracts.

¹⁴ ACCT-94 Rajkot, 104 Gandhidham and 65 Surat

- Non-furnishing of registration status of dealers: In 17 assessment cases of manufacturers/works contractors pertaining to two offices¹⁵ the dealers, who were manufacturers of tax free goods (Grey fabric)/ Works contractors having permission to pay lump-sum tax, had made purchases of goods valued at ₹ 79.53 crore within the State. However, neither the dealers had furnished details regarding registration status of the dealers from whom goods were purchased nor the AAs had ascertained the liability of the dealers to pay purchase tax of ₹ 3.92 crore (at the rate of five *per cent*) in the event of such purchases being URD purchase.
- Non-levy of purchase tax: The Government of Gujarat vide Notification No. GHN-61 dated 16.05.2006 exempted whole of the purchase tax on purchase of the agricultural produce from URD if such purchases are intended for resale within the State. Thus, purchase tax is leviable where the dealers had not sold/resold such goods within the State.

In 24 assessment cases pertaining to ACCT-94, Rajkot the dealers had purchased 'cotton' worth ₹ 543.97 crore from farmers (URD) within the State which was used in the manufacture of cotton bales, cotton seeds, wash oil, oil cakes etc. and sold in the course of inter-State trade and commerce or export. Since, the dealers had not resold the agricultural produce purchased from URD within the State, they were liable to pay purchase tax under Section 9(1). However, neither the dealers paid purchase tax on such purchases of agricultural produce nor the AAs had assessed purchase tax. The nonassessment of purchase tax involved was of ₹ 21.76 crore.

Thus, due to non-assessment of purchase tax by the AAs, the Department was not able to ensure that there was no leakage of revenue in terms of payment of purchase tax.

Thus, the non-application of the rules uniformly resulted in non-reduction of tax credit. A few instances involving tax implication of $\stackrel{\textbf{<}}{\textbf{<}}$ 52.97 lakh are given below:

2.3.12.2 Notification No. GHN-14 dated 29-06-2010 specified reduction of tax credit at the rate of two *per cent* of the purchase turnover of goods mentioned in the notification when the goods are sold/ used as raw material in the manufacture of goods which are sold in the course of inter-State trade or commerce w.e.f. 01.07.2010. 'Cotton' was exempted from reduction in tax credit on account of inter-State sales vide Notification No. GHN-35 dated 7.9.2010 (effective from 1.10.2010). Thus, tax credit was required to be reduced on purchases of 'cotton' between the period 1.7.2010 and 30.9.2010.

In five cases pertaining to ACCT-94, Rajkot the dealers had purchased cotton worth ₹ 2.64 crore between 1.7.2010 and 30.9.2010 from URD which was used in the manufacture of cotton bales, cotton seeds, wash oil, oil cakes etc. sold in the course of inter-State trade or commerce. Thus, tax credit of ₹ 5.28 lakh was required to be reduced at the rate of two *per cent* in the event of payment of purchase tax. However, purchase tax was neither paid by the

¹⁵ ACCT-94 Rajkot and 65 Surat
dealers nor assessed by the AAs during audit assessment resulting in non levy of purchase tax of $\stackrel{\textbf{F}}{=} 5.28$ lakh and consequent non-reduction of tax credit to that extent.

Similarly, in one case pertaining to DCCT, Corporate-2, Surat, the dealer had made purchases of ₹ 30.54 crore which included URD purchases also, the quantum of which could not be ascertained as complete details were not made available to audit. The dealer effected inter-State sales worth ₹ 311.11 crore which constituted 72.73 *per cent* of the gross sales turnover. Thus, tax credit was required to be reduced at the rate of two *per cent* of ₹ 22.21 crore, had the dealer paid purchase tax on above URD purchases. However, non-assessment of purchase tax by the AA resulted in non levy of purchase tax of ₹ 44.42 lakh and consequent non-reduction of tax credit to that extent.

2.3.12.3 Section 11(3)(b) of the GVAT Act provides for reduction in tax credit at the rate of four *per cent* of the taxable turnover of purchases used as raw material in the manufacture, or in the packing of goods which are dispatched outside the State in the course of branch transfer or consignment.

In one case pertaining to ACCT-74, Vapi, the dealer had made URD purchases worth ₹ 7.13 crore. The dealer had also branch transferred goods worth ₹ 20.13 crore (11.45 *per cent* of the gross sales turnover) from the total turnover of ₹ 175.80 crore. Thus, tax credit was required to be reduced at the rate of four *per cent* of URD purchases of ₹ 81.69 lakh (at the rate of 11.45 *per cent*) used in branch transfer. However, non-assessment of purchase tax by the AA resulted in non-levy of purchase tax of ₹ 3.27 lakh and consequent non-reduction of tax credit to that extent.

The Department may consider to assess purchase tax liability during audit assessment on goods which were purchased from the unregistered dealers so that leakage of revenue, if any, may be plugged in.

In the exit conference, the Department accepted the audit observation and stated that the remedial measures would be taken wherever purchase tax has not been collected.

Compliance deficiencies

In addition to the system deficiencies as discussed in the previous paragraphs, we also noticed compliance deficiencies which are discussed below:

2.3.13 Classification of goods/commodities for application of rate of tax under GVAT Act

2.3.13.1 Section 7 of the GVAT Act provides for levy of tax on turnover of sales of goods specified in the Schedule II or Schedule III of the Act at the rate set out against each of them. All goods other than those specified in Schedule I or Schedule III and in the preceding entries of Schedule II fall under entry 87 of Schedule II attracting tax at the rate of 15 *per cent* including additional tax at the rate of 2.5 *per cent*. The Department has neither finalised HSN codes nor it is mandatory for the dealers to mention name and entry of goods sold in the returns filed by them though there is specific column in the returns to

mention the same. Moreover, VAT*is* Module does not prompt to mention name of commodity in the returns filed on-line and the returns are accepted even if the relevant columns are left blank. Thus, the AAs are required to ascertain the classification of goods for ascertaining and levying correct rate of tax during the assessment.

We observed in 68 cases involving turnover of sales of ₹ 833.98 crore pertaining to 10 offices¹⁶ that either the dealers in their periodical returns as well as VAT auditors in VAT Audit Reports had not furnished the classification of the goods or had not furnished supporting documents for bifurcation of commodities leviable to tax at the rate of 12.5 *per cent* and five *per cent* respectively. The classification/ bifurcation of goods was also not ascertained by the AAs while finalising the assessments and tax was levied at lower rate of five *per cent*. In absence of this, the correctness of the rate of tax applied could not be ascertained.

2.3.13.2 The industrial inputs as specified by the Government under entry 42A of the Schedule-II attract rate of tax of five *per cent* including additional tax of one *per cent*. The Government of Gujarat *vide* Notification dated 31.03.2006 had specified the industrial inputs wherein Central Excise (CE) Heading, Sub-heading and Tariff Item Numbers have been specified. Some of the entries are as mentioned in **Table 2.3.13.2**:

SI.			Central Excise			
No.	Description of Goods	Heading No.	Sub- heading No.	Tariff Item No.		
37	Hydrogen, rare gases and other non-metals excluding medicinal grade oxygen	28.04	-	-		
38	Hydrogen			2804.10		
39	Argon			2804.21		
40	Helium			2804.29.10		
41	Nitrogen			2804.30.00		
42	Oxygen			2804.04		

Table 2.3.13.2

As per Central Excise Tariff Act, 1985, heading no. 28.04 covers 'Boron', 'Tellurium silicon', Phosphorus', 'Arsenic' and 'Selenium' apart from the items stated in the entries mentioned above but these entries have not been mentioned in the above notification. However, the Department was treating all the goods falling under heading 2804 as industrial inputs. The Department had provided tariff item numbers only for the five items. In absence of the tariff item numbers, it could not be ascertained whether other items were to be considered as industrial inputs or not.

After this being pointed out, the CCT accepted the audit contention and stated in the exit conference that all necessary steps would be taken to remove these ambiguities. He further stated that commodity code based on HSN has been

¹⁶ ACCT-9, 21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 104 Ghandhidham, 94 Rajkot, 58, 65 Surat, 41 Vadodara, 74 Vapi

(₹ in lakh)

introduced in the Check post forms. A more wide spread use of the code is under the consideration of the Department.

2.3.13.3 Entry 18 of Schedule II of the GVAT Act pertaining to 'chemicals' was deleted w.e.f. 01.08.2009 vide the Gujarat Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act No. 12 of 2009. As a result, w.e.f. 01-08-2009, chemicals other than those notified as 'industrial inputs' are taxable at the rate of 15 *per cent* including additional tax of 2.5 *per cent*. Chemicals falling under Central Excise Tariff Heading 3204, 3206 and 3207 were notified as industrial inputs vide Notification No. GHN-4 dated 15.2.2010. Thus, during the period between 01.08.2009 and 14.02.2010, tax on the chemicals falling under the above tariff headings was required to be levied at the rate of 15 *per cent*.

In 27 cases pertaining to six offices¹⁷, we observed from the excise invoices/ bill of lading available on record that the dealers had incorrectly paid tax at the rate of five *per cent*, on sale of chemicals falling under tariff heading 3204, 3206 and 3207, instead of correct rate of 15 *per cent* during the period between 01.08.2009 and 14.02.2010. The irregularity was not detected and rectified by the AAs during the audit assessment also. This resulted in short levy of tax of ₹ 7.07 crore excluding interest and penalty leviable thereon.

The Department accepted our observation in one case (July 2015) and raised demand of ₹ 35.19 lakh. The reply in the remaining cases has not been received (October 2015).

2.3.13.4 We observed in 22 cases pertaining to 11 offices¹⁸ that tax was paid by the dealers at lower rates due to incorrect classification of goods or application of incorrect rate of tax. The AAs had also not rectified the mistakes and tax was not levied at appropriate rates during audit assessment. This resulted in short levy of tax of ₹ 9.45 crore excluding interest and penalty as mentioned in **Table 2.3.13.4**:

Sl. No.	Office (No. of dealers)	Nature of objection	Short levy of VAT excluding interest and penalty
1	ACCT-9 Ahmedabad (1), 57 Ankleshwar (2), 94 Rajkot (4), 41 Vadodara (2), 65 (1), 58(2) Surat, 74 Vapi (1), DCCT-Corp-1 Vadodara (2)	Under Section 7 of the GVAT Act, tax is leviable, under the residuary entry 87 of Schedule II, at the rate of 15 <i>per cent</i> on sale of batteries, automobile parts, water treatment plant, currency counting machines, fire-fighting equipment, reflectors etc. The AAs finalised assessments in respect of 15 dealers dealing with the above goods valued at ₹ 59.77 crore incorrectly and levied tax at the rate of four/five <i>per cent</i> , on sale of	610.46

Table 2.3.13.4

¹⁷ ACCT-9, 21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 58 Surat, 74 Vapi

¹⁸ ACCT-9, 21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 94 Rajkot, 58, 65 Surat, 74 Vapi, 41 Vadodara,

DCCT-Corp-2 Surat, Corp-1 Vadodara

2 ACCT-21 Ahmedabad (1), 94 The sale of Scissor lift, water treatment plant, electric motor parts fall under the residuary entry 87 of Schedule-11 and attract tax at the rate of 15 per cent. The As classified these goods valued at ₹ 17.63 crore as parts of machinery used in manufacture of goods and levied tax on sale of these goods under entry-S8A of Schedule-11, at the rate of 0.6 per cent instead of correct rate of 15 per cent. 133.39 3 ACCT-9 Ahmedabad (1) The tax was levied at the rate of 0.6 per cent on sale of Ready Mix Concrete (RMC) valued at ₹ 16.51 crore treating it as works contract while it is right to sale and attracts rate of tax at 15 per cent under residuary entry 87 of Schedule-11 After residuary entry 87 of Schedule-11 of the Act, tax is leviable at the rate of 5 per cent including additional tax of one per cent on sale of imitation jewellery under at ₹ 86.98 lakh was classified as gold/precious stone jewellery and tax was levied at the rate of one per cent. 9.74 5 ACCT-56 Bharuch (1) The Government vide Notification dated 11.10.2006 fixed the rate of fump-sun tax at two per cent on works contract of installation and commissioning of Fire- fighting equipment. In assessment this work scontract and tax was levied at the rate of 0.6 per cent instead of two per cent as the above work was not specified as civil works contract. 9.74 6 ACCT-21 Ahmedabad (1) Under Section 7 of the Act, tax was leviable at the rate of 1.5 per cent including additional tax at 2.5 per cent including additional tax of 2.5 per cent including additional tax of 2.5 per cent including additional tax of 0.5 per cent including additional tax of one per cent including additional tax of one per cent including additional tax of one per c			these goods instead of correct rate of 15	
(1), 94 Rajkot (1), 65 Surat (1) plant, electric motor parts fall under the residuary entry 87 of Schedule-II and attract tax at the rate of 15 per cent. The Acs classified these goods valued at ₹17.63 crore as parts of machinery used in manufacture of goods and levied tax on sale of these goods under entry-58A of Schedule-II, at the rate of 0.6 per cent instead of correct rate of 15 per cent. 3 ACCT-9 Ahmedabad (1) The tax was levied at the rate of 0.6 per cent on sale of Ready Mix Concrete (RMC) valued at ₹16.51 core treating it as works contract while it is right to sale and attracts rate of tax at 15 per cent under residuary entry 87 of Schedule-II. After adjustment of tax paid and ITC, there was short levy of ₹1.33 crore. 3.48 4 ACCT-94, Rajkot (1) Under Entry-39 of Schedule-II of the Act, tax is leviable at the rate of 5 per cent on sale of imitation jewellery. In assessment, imitation jewellery and tax was levied at the rate of one per cent instead of correct rate of five per cent. 3.48 5 ACCT-56 Bharuch (1) The Government vide Notification dated 11.10.2006 fixed the rate of lump-sum tax at two per cent on works contract of installation and commissioning of Fire- fighting equipment. In assessment this work valued at ₹ 6.96 crore was treated as civil works contract. 9.74 6 ACCT-21 Ahmedabad (1) Under Section 7 of the Act, tax was leviable at the rate of 15 per cent including additional tax of one per cent on sale of Guar Dal Powder. The AA in assessment treated Guar Dal Powder. 13.17 6 ACCT-21 Ahmedabad (1) Under Section 7 of the Act, tax was leviable at the rate of 15 pe			-	
(1) cent on sale of Ready Mix Concrete (RMC) valued at ₹ 16.51 crore treating it as works contract while it is right to sale and attracts rate of tax at 15 per cent under residuary entry 87 of Schedule-II. After adjustment of tax paid and ITC, there was short levy of ₹ 1.33 crore. 4 ACCT-94, Rajkot (1) Under Entry-39 of Schedule-II of the Act, tax is leviable at the rate of 5 per cent including additional tax of one per cent on sale of imitation jewellery. In assessment, imitation jewellery valued at ₹ 86.98 lakh was classified as gold/precious stone jewellery and tax was levied at the rate of one per cent. 3.48 5 ACCT-56 Bharuch (1) The Government vide Notification dated 11.10.2006 fixed the rate of lump-sum tax at two per cent on works contract of installation and commissioning of Fire- fighting equipment. In assessment this work valued at ₹ 0.96 crore was treated as civil works contract. 9.74 6 ACCT-21 Ahmedabad (1) Under Section 7 of the Act, tax was leviable at the rate of 15 per cent including additional tax at 2.5 per cent between period 01-08-2009 and 14-02-2010 and w.ef. 15-02-2015 at five per cent on sale of <i>Guar Dal Powder</i> . The AA in assessment treated <i>Guar Dal Powder</i> valued at ₹ .04 crore as tax free goods under Schedule-I of the Act and no tax was levied on sale of it which was taxable.	2	(1), 94 Rajkot (1),	plant, electric motor parts fall under the residuary entry 87 of Schedule-II and attract tax at the rate of 15 <i>per cent</i> . The AAs classified these goods valued at ₹ 17.63 crore as parts of machinery used in manufacture of goods and levied tax on sale of these goods under entry-58A of Schedule-II, at the rate of four/five <i>per</i>	174.29
tax is leviable at the rate of 5 per cent including additional tax of one per cent on sale of imitation jewellery. In assessment, imitation jewellery valued at ₹ 86.98 lakh was classified as gold/precious stone jewellery and tax was levied at the rate of one per cent. 5 ACCT-56 Bharuch (1) The Government vide Notification dated 11.10.2006 fixed the rate of lump-sum tax at two per cent on works contract of installation and commissioning of Fire- fighting equipment. In assessment this work valued at ₹ 6.96 crore was treated as civil works contract and tax was levied at the rate of 0.6 per cent instead of two per cent as the above work was not specified as civil works contract. 13.17 6 ACCT-21 Ahmedabad (1) Under Section 7 of the Act, tax was leviable at the rate of 15 per cent including additional tax at 2.5 per cent between period 01-08-2009 and 14-02-2010 and w.e.f. 15-02-2015 at five per cent in including additional tax of one per cent on sale of Guar Dal Powder. The AA in assessment treated Guar Dal Powder valued at ₹ 2.04 crore as tax free goods under Schedule-I of the Act and no tax was levied on sale of it which was taxable.	3		<i>cent</i> on sale of Ready Mix Concrete (RMC) valued at ₹ 16.51 crore treating it as works contract while it is right to sale and attracts rate of tax at 15 <i>per cent</i> under residuary entry 87 of Schedule-II. After adjustment of tax paid and ITC, there was	133.39
 11.10.2006 fixed the rate of lump-sum tax at two per cent on works contract of installation and commissioning of Fire-fighting equipment. In assessment this work valued at ₹ 6.96 crore was treated as civil works contract and tax was levied at the rate of 0.6 per cent instead of two per cent as the above work was not specified as civil works contract. ACCT-21 Ahmedabad (1) Under Section 7 of the Act, tax was levied at the rate of 15 per cent including additional tax at 2.5 per cent between period 01-08-2009 and 14-02-2010 and w.e.f. 15-02-2015 at five per cent including additional tax of one per cent on sale of Guar Dal Powder. The AA in assessment treated Guar Dal Powder valued at ₹ 2.04 crore as tax free goods under Schedule-I of the Act and no tax was levied on sale of it which was taxable. 	4	ACCT-94, Rajkot (1)	tax is leviable at the rate of 5 <i>per cent</i> including additional tax of one <i>per cent</i> on sale of imitation jewellery. In assessment, imitation jewellery valued at ₹ 86.98 lakh was classified as gold/precious stone jewellery and tax was levied at the rate of one <i>per cent</i> instead of correct rate of five	3.48
 (1) leviable at the rate of 15 per cent including additional tax at 2.5 per cent between period 01-08-2009 and 14-02-2010 and w.e.f. 15-02-2015 at five per cent including additional tax of one per cent on sale of Guar Dal Powder. The AA in assessment treated Guar Dal Powder valued at ₹ 2.04 crore as tax free goods under Schedule-I of the Act and no tax was levied on sale of it which was taxable. 	5	ACCT-56 Bharuch (1)	11.10.2006 fixed the rate of lump-sum tax at two <i>per cent</i> on works contract of installation and commissioning of Fire- fighting equipment. In assessment this work valued at $₹$ 6.96 crore was treated as civil works contract and tax was levied at the rate of 0.6 <i>per cent</i> instead of two <i>per</i> <i>cent</i> as the above work was not specified	9.74
Total 944.53	6		leviable at the rate of 15 <i>per cent</i> including additional tax at 2.5 <i>per cent</i> between period 01-08-2009 and 14-02-2010 and w.e.f. 15-02-2015 at five <i>per cent</i> including additional tax of one <i>per cent</i> on sale of <i>Guar Dal Powder</i> . The AA in assessment treated <i>Guar Dal Powder</i> valued at ₹ 2.04 crore as tax free goods under Schedule-I of the Act and no tax	13.17
		Total		944.53

The Department in exit conference stated (October 2015) that all these cases would be re-examined and remedial action would be taken in this regard under intimation to audit.

2.3.14 Determination of turnover

2.3.14.1 Section 7 of the GVAT Act provides for levy of tax on the turnover of sales, which remains after deducting there from the turnover of sales of goods not subject to tax under this Act, at the rates specified in Schedule II or III. Thus, correct determination of turnover by the AA at the time of assessment is important for levy of tax. Section 63 of the Act provides for submission of VAT Audit Report, while Rule 20(6) of the GVAT Rules provides for submission of Trading Account, Profit and Loss Account and the Balance Sheet to the jurisdictional CTO in case of dealers having turnover in excess of $\mathbf{\xi}$ one crore.

We observed in 17 cases pertaining to five offices¹⁹ that the dealers had not furnished the documents (i.e. Trading Account, Profit and Loss Account and the Balance Sheet) prescribed under Rule 20(6) along with his returns. The AAs had assessed turnover of sales/purchases on the basis of VAT Audit Report only without verifying other certified accounts viz. Balance Sheet/ Profit and Loss Account which were required to be furnished by the dealers. In such cases, the correctness of the turnover of sales/purchases adopted by the AAs for assessment could not be ensured.

2.3.14.2 Under Section 8 of the GVAT Act, Credit/Debit notes are required to be furnished for the claim of deduction towards sales price/goods returned and to substantiate that the excess tax had not been borne by the purchaser of the goods. In absence of Credit/Debit notes, tax is leviable even though the dealer had claimed any deductions towards sale price/ goods returned.

We observed in 13 cases pertaining to eight offices²⁰ that the AAs had allowed deduction of \mathbf{E} 14.57 crore from the taxable turnover towards goods returned or discount accorded to the purchaser, though the Credit/ Debit notes were not furnished by the dealers in support of such claims. Thus, allowance of deductions from the taxable turnover involving tax implication of \mathbf{E} 1.17 crore without verifying the supporting documents was incorrect.

2.3.14.3 In 63 assessment cases, we observed from the VAT Audit Report/ Profit and Loss Account/ Balance Sheet/ Returns filed by the dealers that there was short levy of tax of \gtrless 24.22 crore excluding interest and penalty as mentioned in **Table 2.3.14.3**:

Table	2.3.14.3
-------	----------

		(₹ in crore)
Sl. No.	Nature of observation	Short levy of VAT
1	As per Section 2(24) of the GVAT Act 'sale price' means the amount of valuable consideration received or receivable by a dealer for any sale of goods made including the amount of duties levied or leviable under the Customs Act, 1962 and any sum charged for anything done	2.40

¹⁹ ACCT-57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 104 Gandhidham, 65, 58 Surat

²⁰ ACCT-9, 21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 104 Gandhidham, 65, 58 Surat, 94 Rajkot

by the dealer in respect of the goods at the time of or before delivery thereof.

We observed in 13 assessment cases pertaining to four offices²¹ that the AAs had not included customs duty/ transportation/logistics charges etc. worth $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 46.63 crore in the taxable turnover. This irregular deduction from the taxable turnover resulted in short realisation of tax to the extent of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 2.40 crore excluding interest and penalty.

After this being pointed out, the ACCT, Gandhidham did not accept audit observation in four cases stating that the custom duty was paid by the seller on behalf of purchasers and did not form part of sale price.

Reply of the AA is not acceptable since as per provisions stated above, duties levied or leviable under the Customs Act form part of sale price. Reply in respect of remaining cases was not furnished.

consequent short levy of tax to the extent of \mathbf{E} 17.97 crore excluding interest and penalty.
--

After this being pointed out, the AA did not accept audit observation in one case stating that the sales turnover was decided as per the sales register as the separate accounts were not being maintained for the Depot in the State of Gujarat.

Reply of the AA is not acceptable as the amount of sales turnover assessed at ₹ 503.73 crore was less than the value of goods of ₹ 401.86 crore brought on branch transfer basis and profit element of ₹ 180.58 crore certified by the statutory auditor.

3	Under Section 2(30) of the GAVT Act, tax is leviable on taxable turnover of sales in relation to works contracts on the amount of sales remaining after deducting there from the charges towards labour, service and other like charges.	3.46
	We observed in 12 assessment cases of five offices ²³ that deemed sale of the goods involved in the execution of the works contract was either (i) incorrectly arrived at less than the amount of goods consumed to the extent of ₹ 59.40 crore or (ii) irregular/ excess deductions of ₹ 6.23 crore was allowed from the total turnover as exempted items.	
	This resulted in under determination of turnover to the extent of \mathfrak{F} 65.63 crore and consequent short levy of tax to the extent of \mathfrak{F} 3.46 crore excluding interest and penalty.	
4	Section 14A of the GVAT Act provides for payment of lum-sum tax at the rate of 0.6 <i>per cent</i> by the works contractors on total receipt in respect of civil works contracts. Further, Section 14D provides for payment of lump-sum tax at the rate of four <i>per cent</i> of the total turnover of sales in respect of dealers who are engaged in the business of sale of eatables in any form.	0.39
	We observed in eight cases pertaining to four offices ²⁴ that AAs had irregularly allowed deductions from the total receipts of works contract/ sale of eatables as labour charges/ tax free sales though tax	

²¹ ACCT-56 Bharuch, 104 Gandhidham, 94 Rajkot, DCCT Corp-2 Surat

ACCT-9, 21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 104 Gandhidham, 94 Rajkot, 58, 65 Surat, 41 Vadodara, 74 Vapi, DCCT Corp-5 Ahmedabad, Corp-2 Surat and Corp-1 Vadodara

²³ ACCT-56 Bharuch, 94 Rajkot, 58 Surat, 41 Vadodara, DCCT Corp-2 Surat

²⁴ ACCT-56 Bharuch, 94 Rajkot, 41 Vadodara, 74 Vapi

of tax to the extent of ₹ 39.05 lakh excluding interest and penalty. Total	
over resulted in short realisation	
ceipts. This irregular deduction of	

2.3.15 Excess allowance of Input Tax Credit

As per Section 11 of the GVAT Act, a registered dealer is eligible for Input Tax Credit (ITC) equal to the amount of tax paid by him on purchase of taxable goods in the State used in manufacture of taxable goods. We observed in 21 assessment cases that the AAs had allowed excess tax credit of ₹ 1.27 crore excluding interest and penalty as mentioned in **Table 2.3.15**:

			(₹ in Lakh)
SI. No.	Office (No. of assessments)	Nature of objection	Excess allowance of ITC
1	ACCT- 9 (1), 21(2), Ahmedabad, 56 Bharuch (1), 65 Surat (3), 94 Rajkot (3), 41 Vadodara (2)	Under Section 11(5)(h) of the Act, the tax credit shall not be allowed for purchases of the goods which are used in manufacturing or packing of tax free goods. We observed in 12 assessment cases pertaining to six offices that AAs had allowed the tax credit of the goods of ₹ 12.21 crore purchased within the State which were used in manufacture of tax free goods and the goods of ₹ 6.10 crore were consumed in the process of job-works wherein no output tax was paid. This resulted in irregular grant of tax credit to the extent of ₹ 57.45 lakh.	57.45
2	ACCT- 94 Rajkot (1), 41 Vadodara (1)	Under Section 8(2) of the Act, the tax credit shall not be allowed to a purchasing dealer where a selling dealer had reduced tax liability by issuing credit notes with tax. We observed in two assessment cases pertaining to two offices that: The AA in one case had not reduced the tax credit of ₹ 15.65 lakh received by the dealer on account of discount of the amount of ₹ 1.20 crore with tax. In another case tax credit of ₹ 1.09 lakh on the goods used in fabrication of shed valued at ₹ 21.79 lakh was granted involving tax implication of ₹ 1.09 lakh. This resulted in excess allowance of tax credit to the extent of ₹ 16.74 lakh.	16.74
3	ACCT-9 (1), 21 (1) Ahmedabad, 74 Vapi (1)	As per the GVAT Act; in case of excess input tax credit carried forward, tax credit will be refunded not later than two years from the end of the year. In one assessment case, the AAs had allowed the refund of tax credit which remained unadjusted against the output tax liability without verifying the admissibility as the tax credit was brought forward continuously for four years. In another case, refund of tax credit was allowed	28.82

Table 2.3.15

		penalty. Total	126.65
		In four assessment cases, the AAs reduced the tax credit of \mathbf{E} 38.53 lakh instead of \mathbf{E} 62.17 lakh on purchases of goods of \mathbf{E} 31.09 crore which were sold/resold in the course of inter-State trade or commerce or used as raw material in the manufacture of goods which were sold in the course of inter-State trade or commerce. This resulted in excess allowance of tax credit to the extent of \mathbf{E} 23.64 lakh excluding interest and	
	 (1), 41 Vadodara (1), DCCT Corp-2 Ahmedabad (1), Corp-1 Vadodara (1) 	specified that w.e.f. 01-07-2010, goods mentioned in the notification shall not be entitled for the tax credit to the extent of two percent on the taxable turnover of purchases within the State for which tax credit is admissible when the goods are sold/resold in the course of inter-State trade or commerce or used as raw material in the manufacture of such goods.	
4	ACCT-94 Rajkot	towards sub-contract, not claimed in returns and certified accounts. This resulted in irregular refund to the extent of ₹ 28.82 lakh. The Government vide Notification dated 7-9-2010	23.64
		which was raised due to allowance of deductions	

2.3.16 Assessment under Central Sales Tax Act, 1956

Under Section 6 of the CST Act, every dealer shall be liable to pay tax under this Act on all sales of goods effected by him in the course of inter-State trade or commerce during any year. Further, as per Section 9(2) of the CST Act, the authorities for the time being empowered to assess, re-assess, collect and enforce payment of any tax under GVAT Act shall assess, reassess, collect and enforce payment of tax payable by a dealer under this Act and provisions regarding interest and penalty under GVAT Act are applicable to the CST assessment also.

2.3.16.1 Irregular exemption from tax as indirect export

Section 5(3) of the CST Act stipulates that the last sale or purchase of any goods preceding the sale or purchase occasioning the export of those goods out of the territory of India shall also be deemed to be in the course of such export, if such last sale or purchase took place after, and was for the purpose of complying with, the agreement or order for or in relation to such export. These transactions are termed as indirect export by the seller and no tax is leviable on such sale where the purchasing dealers had purchased such goods for the purpose of complying with the agreement or order for such export. Further, under Section 5(4) of the Act, the exemption from tax shall not apply to any sale or purchase of goods unless the dealer selling the goods furnishes to the assessing authority a declaration in Form-H duly filled by the exporter to whom the goods are sold.

We observed in 67 assessment cases pertaining to 11 offices²⁵ that the AAs had allowed deductions of ₹ 507.30 crore from the taxable turnover as indirect export though statutory Form-H was not duly filled by the merchant exporter (purchaser). In absence of complete details, it could not be ascertained whether the goods were purchased for the purpose of complying with, the agreement or order for or in relation to export. This resulted in irregular deduction from the taxable turnover involving tax implication of ₹ 24.16 crore.

The AAs in respect of four cases replied that information in Form-H was not being furnished by the dealers due to their concern of the disclosure of business secret.

The reply is not tenable as the exemption from the tax could not be extended where the required supporting documents and duly filled in statutory forms as prescribed under the Act, were not furnished by the dealers. Reply of the Department in remaining cases is awaited (October 2015).

2.3.16.2 Irregular exemption as HSS

Section 5(2) of the CST Act provides that a sale or purchase of goods shall be deemed to take place in the course of import of the goods into the territory of India, provided the transaction is supported by documentary evidence such as bill of entry, agreement of sale etc. to the effect that the sale has occurred before the goods have crossed the customs frontier of India.

We observed in two cases pertaining to two offices²⁶ that deductions were allowed from the taxable turnover as High Seas Sale (HSS) though supporting documents such as agreement of HSS, bill of entry etc. were neither furnished by the dealers nor verified by the AAs. In these cases, without verifying the proofs/details, the correctness of exemption from the tax on turnover of sales of \gtrless 6.77 crore could not be ascertained.

2.3.16.3 Short levy of CST

As per Section 8(1) read with Section 8(4) of the CST Act, every dealer, who in the course of inter-State trade or commerce, sells goods to a registered dealer, shall be liable to pay tax at the rate of two *per cent* of his turnover or at the rate applicable to the sale or purchase of such goods inside the State under the sales tax law of that State, whichever is lower provided that the dealer selling the goods furnishes a declaration in Form 'C' in original duly filled and signed by the registered dealer to whom the goods are sold containing the prescribed particulars. In case of non-furnishing of Form 'C' or furnishing incomplete forms, the dealer is liable to pay tax at the rates applicable to the local sales.

We observed in 14 assessment cases pertaining to six offices²⁷ that in six cases AAs had levied tax at the concessional rate of two *per cent*, instead of local

 ²⁵ ACCT-21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 56 Bharuch, 104 Gandhidham, 94 Rajkot, 58 Surat, 41 Vadodara, 74 Vapi, DCCT Corp-2 Ahmedabad, Corp-2 Surat, Corp-1 Vadodara
 ²⁶ ACCT-21 Ahmedabad, 41 Vadodara

²⁷ ACCT-9,21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 104 Gandhidham, 94 Rajkot, 74 Vapi

rate of five *per cent* or fifteen *per cent* including additional tax, on inter-State sales not supported by declaration in Form 'C'. Further, in the case of eight dealers, the AAs had incorrectly accepted duplicate Form 'C' and levied tax at concessional rate. This resulted in short levy of CST of \gtrless 1.72 crore excluding interest and penalty.

2.3.16.4 Non levy of CST

Under Section 6(A) of the CST Act, consignment sale (branch transfer) shall be exempt from payment of tax on production of statutory Form-F. In the case of non-furnishing of the statutory forms and supporting documents, the dealer is liable to pay tax at the rates applicable to the local sales.

We observed in four assessment cases pertaining to two offices²⁸ that AAs had allowed deduction of \gtrless 39.28 crore from the taxable turnover of sales where the statutory Forms 'F' in support of branch transfer of goods were not furnished. This resulted in non-levy of CST of \gtrless 1.86 crore excluding interest and penalty.

2.3.16.5 Non-levy of tax due to irregular deductions from the taxable turnover

As per Section 3(b) of the CST Act, 1956, a sale or purchase of goods shall be deemed to have taken place in the course of inter-State trade or commerce if the sale or purchase is effected by a transfer of *documents of title* (Railway Receipt /Lorry Receipt etc.) to the goods during their movement from one State to another. Further, as per Section 6(2) of the Act, *ibid*, all subsequent inter-State sales to registered dealers by transfer of documents during movement of goods are exempt from sales tax on production of Form 'E-I' (first inter-State sale) or 'E-II' (subsequent sale by the transferors) and Form 'C'. Moreover, in *Cinezac Technical Services V/s State of Kerala (2009) 25 VST 165 (Kerala HC DB)* it was held that a pre-arranged sale would not be treated as subsequent inter-State sale. Similar view was taken in *State of Karnataka V/s A & G Products and Technologies (2008) 13 VST 177=37 MTJ 337 (Kar HC DB)* and it was held that goods appropriated to the ultimate buyer even before commencement of movement of goods would not be exempted from CST.

• We observed in eight assessment cases pertaining to five offices²⁹ that AAs had allowed claim of ₹ 1,144.31 crore towards RR sale though the original seller had consigned goods to the ultimate buyer and there was no endorsement of lorry receipts by the subsequent selling dealer during movement of goods i.e. the goods were appropriated to their subsequent buyer before the movement of goods commenced. As such, claim of RR sale was against the provisions. Hence, irregular acceptance of claim towards RR sales during assessments by the AAs had resulted in non-levy of tax of ₹ 22.47 crore excluding interest and penalty.

²⁸ ACCT-9 Ahmedabd, 32 Vijapur

²⁹ ACCT-57 Ankleshwar, 58 Surat, 41 Vadodara, DCCT Corp-1 Vadodara, Corp-2 Ahmedabad

• Further, in 21 assessment cases of eight offices³⁰, we observed that the AAs had allowed deductions from the taxable turnover as RR sale where the supporting documents such as transportation documents etc. in support of the fact that sale was effected during the movement of goods were not furnished by the dealers. In these cases without verifying such proofs/details, the correctness of exemption from tax on turnover of sales of ₹ 203.21 crore could not be ascertained.

2.3.17 Collection of tax

In terms of Section 42 of the GVAT Act, the unpaid amount of tax (after deducting the tax already paid) is required to be paid, together with interest and penalty, if any, by the dealer within 30 days of notice of demand.

During the test check we observed that the assessments were being done in the system and if any demand is raised as a result of assessment, the task of such demand is created in the account of the concerned AA in the *VATis* system. The task remains open till the amount is not recovered and closed by the AAs. Thus, the pending recoveries are watched through the system.

The arrears of revenue for the year 2010-11 to 2014-15 are as mentioned in **Table 2.3.17**:

					((in crore)
Opening balance of arrears	Arrears added during the year	Arrears collected during the year	Cummula- tive arrears at the end of the year	Tax receipts	Percentage of cummu- lative arrears to the revenue of the year	Pending arrears of <i>sub</i> <i>judice</i> cases
10,916	5,830	2,238	14,508	24,893	58	5,934
14,508	3,057	999	16,566	31,202	53	8,136
16,566	2,434	884	18,117	39,465	46	9,603
18,117	3,422	3,029	18,510	40,976	45	9,182
18,510	2,628	373	20,765	44,145	47	10,228
	balance of arrears 10,916 14,508 16,566 18,117	balance of arrears added during the year 10,916 5,830 14,508 3,057 16,566 2,434 18,117 3,422	Jalance of arrearsadded during the yearcollected during the year10,9165,8302,23814,5083,05799916,5662,43488418,1173,4223,029	Lalance of arrearsadded during the yearcollected during the yeartive arrears at the end of the year10,9165,8302,23814,50814,5083,05799916,56616,5662,43488418,11718,1173,4223,02918,510	Jalance of arrearsadded during the yearcollected during the yeartive arrears at the end of the yearreceipts10,9165,8302,23814,50824,89314,5083,05799916,56631,20216,5662,43488418,11739,46518,1173,4223,02918,51040,976	Opening balance of arrearsArrears added during the yearArrears collected during the yearCummula- tive arrears at the end of the yearTax receiptsPercentage of cummu- lative arrears to the revenue of the year10,9165,8302,23814,50824,8935814,5083,05799916,56631,2025316,5662,43488418,11739,4654618,1173,4223,02918,51040,97645

Table 2.3.17

(Source: Statistical profile and data furnished by the Department)

As can be seen from the above, though on one hand the absolute number of arrears has increased, as a percentage of tax receipt the position has improved. The Department has also recovered ₹ 7,523 crore during five years.

The Department also has a constraint in terms of the *sub-judice* cases, where such cases would remain pending until the cases get adjudicated. Arrears of ₹ 20,765 crore were pending as at the end of the March 2015. The age wise analysis shows that ₹ 8,532 crore were pending at various stages for a period exceeding five years.

In view of the large number of arrears cases, the Government needs to find an innovative way to settle the cases promptly.

³⁰ ACCT-9, 21 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 58, 65 Surat, 94 Rajkot, DCCT Corp-1 Vadodara, Corp-2 Ahmedabad

The Department in the exit conference stated that a large share of arrears of revenue pertains to *sub-judice* cases. However, recovery action would be expedited in the remaining cases.

2.3.18 Weak internal audit

The Department has an internal audit wing working under DCCT (Audit) at field level and headed by JCCT (Audit) at HO level. The Commissioner of Commercial Tax (CCT) vide circular dated 30-06-2010 had instructed that 25 DCCT (Audit) shall inspect the ACCT offices in their jurisdiction on quarterly basis and inspect the cases where provisional refund was granted and post audit the cases where audit assessment has been completed. Every DCCT (Audit) shall initiate pre/post audit in 125 cases per month. Further, the jurisdictional DCCT shall check 20 *per cent* cases per month where new registration certificates were issued.

The number of cases where the Department initiated pre-audit and post-audit during the period 2010-11 to 2014-15 was as mentioned in **Table 2.3.18**:

SI. No.	Year	Minimum number of cases to be pre/post audited by each DCCT	Number of cases pre audited	Number of cases post audited	Special audit
1	2010-11	1500	2	48	17
2	2011-12	1500	29	23	5
3	2012-13	1500	19	29	1
4	2013-14	1500	48	9	0
5	2014-15	1500	-	-	-
	Total		98	109	23

Table 2.3.18

(Source: Statistical Profile of the Commercial Tax Department; data not furnished by the Department for the year 2014-15)

- Number of cases pre audited or post audited by the Department was very low.
- > The targets fixed by the CCT office were not achieved.

During the course of audit, we called for the information regarding number of cases where new registration certificates were issued and checked by the DCCT. However, all the offices furnished a nil report to this effect. This indicates that the internal audit wing was not functioning as intended and there is a scope to streamline its functioning. The Department needs to ensure compliance with its own instructions.

The Department in the exit conference stated that the data of Statistical Profile would be reconciled. The Department further stated that the cases where refund in excess of ₹ 25,000 is payable are pre-audited by the Department.

2.3.19 Conclusion

During the Performance Audit, we observed that in Gujarat, all the services, such as, registration, filing of returns, claims of refund, assessment and recovery are done through the ACCT offices (under single window system) in respect of all dealers irrespective of amount of tax payable /refund. While in Maharashtra, this single window system facility is available only for large tax payer units. This is a positive aspect of Gujarat VAT administration.

In our audit, we noticed a number of system deficiencies which indicate that there is a scope for further improvement in the system. The system deficiencies mainly consisted of non-conduct of drive or survey to identify and bring the URDs under tax net, absence of uniform policy for levy and assessment of entry tax and purchase tax, lacunae in notification for remission of tax on sale of oiled/de-oiled cakes of cotton seeds etc.

Apart from above system deficiencies, our test check revealed non-levy/short levy of tax to the tune of ₹ 124.21 crore in respect of the cases scrutinised by the Department. The fact that we could notice such instances in the cases already scrutinised by the Department points to a scope to streamline the working of the Department.

2.3.20 Summary of recommendations

We recommend that:

- Department may put in place a suitable regulatory mechanism for bringing the unregistered dealers under the tax net.
- The Department may ensure proper allocation of cases for audit assessment among various AAs and prescribe monthly/quarterly targets of audit assessments to the various AAs to ensure that flow of assessments is streamlined.
- The Government may consider inserting provisions in GVAT Act for levy of purchase tax on purchases of oiled/de-oiled cakes of cotton seeds which are disposed off other than sale/resale within the State.
- The Department may adopt a uniform policy for levy and assessment of tax separately under the Entry Tax Act 2001, so that possibility of leakage of entry tax, if any, can be plugged in.
- The Department may consider to assess purchase tax liability during audit assessment on goods which were purchased from the unregistered dealers so that leakage of revenue, if any, may be plugged in.
- In view of the large number of arrears cases, the Government needs to find an innovative way to settle the cases promptly.

2.4 Non/ Short levy of VAT due to misclassification

Under Section 7 of the GVAT Act 2003, tax on the turnover of sales of goods shall be levied at the rates specified in Schedule II or Schedule III of the Act. Additional tax at the rate of 2.5/1 *per cent* is also leviable from 1 April 2008. Further, as per entry no. 87 of Schedule II, all goods other than those specified in Schedule I or Schedule III and in the preceding entries of Schedule II attract tax at the rate of 12.5 *per cent*.

During test check of the assessment records of seven offices³¹ we noticed³² in 44 assessments³³ of 40 dealers that there was short levy of VAT of ₹ 2.19 crore due to misclassification of commodities as mentioned in **Table 2.4**. Besides, interest and penalty is also recoverable, wherever applicable.

				(₹ in l	akh)
Sl. No.	Office (No. of dealers)	Applicable rate of tax (<i>per cent</i>)	Rate applied (per cent)	Nature of observation	Non/ Short levy of VAT
1	ACCT, Unit-10, Ahmedabad (10) ACCT, Unit-11, Ahmedabad (16) ACCT, Unit-21, Ahmedabad (9)	4+1	0	As per entry 37 of Schedule II, husk of all types including groundnut husk are taxable at the rate of four <i>per cent</i> . Further, husk of all types excluding 'groundnut husk' and 'rice husk' are exempt from whole of tax by entry 18 of Notification No. (GHN-44)VAT- 2006- S.5(2)(3)-TH Dated 29-4-06 u/s 5(2). Thus, 'rice husk' is taxable at the rate of five <i>per cent</i> including additional tax at the rate of one <i>per cent</i> . However, the Assessing Authority (AA) had treated the rice husk (rice bran/ rice polish) valued at ₹ 15.17 crore as exempted goods by classifying it as cattle feed under entry 11 of Schedule I and did not levy any tax. Thus, there was non levy of VAT due to misclassification.	75.83
	this being point ion/reassessmen			ccepted (August 2015) our observation and	initiated
2	ACCT-5 Ahmedabad (1)	12.5+2.5	0.6	The Honourable Supreme Court of India in case of Commissioner of Service Tax, Delhi vs. G M K Concrete Mixing (P) Ltd ³⁴ , held that delivering Ready Mix Concrete (RMC) at site and also performing other incidental activities of pouring, pumping and laying of RMC, etc. amounts to sale instead of works contract. RMC falls under entry number 87 of Schedule-II	69.65

Table 2.4

³¹ ACCT-5,10,11,21 Ahmedabad, 72 Bilimora, 59 Surat, 75 Vapi

³⁴ 36 STR 913 (SC) [2015] 51 GST 719 (SC)

³² Between September 2013 and October 2014

³³ For the year 2006-07, 2007-08, 2008-09, 2009-10 and 2010-11 finalised between October 2010 and February 2014.

	of the GVAT Act and attracts tax at the rate of 15 <i>per cent</i> including additional tax of 2.5 <i>per cent</i> .
	The dealer was engaged in manufacture of RMC and providing and laying the same by transit mixers at the site of customers. The dealer was not executing works contract on its own. Thus, supply of RMC valued at ₹ 12.83 crore at the site of customers was 'sale of RMC' instead of works contract. However, the AA assessed the dealer on lump-sum tax basis by
	treating the above transaction as works contract and levied tax at the rate of 0.6 <i>per cent</i> instead of correct rate of 15 <i>per</i> <i>cent</i> . This resulted in short levy of VAT.

After this being pointed out, the Department accepted (May 2015) our observation and raised demand on reassessment.

aema					
3	ACCT, Unit-72, Bilimora (2)	12.5+2.5	4+1	Entry 136 of Notification No. GHN-33 dated 31.3.2006 specifies Printing ink, writing ink or drawing ink, whether or not concentrated or solid (falling under Central Excise Tariff Heading 32.15) as Industrial Input. 'Other Ink' is not covered under the above entry as the notes under the said notification clarified, where the description in respect of any commodity in the notification is different in any manner from the corresponding description in the Central Excise Tariff Act, 1985 then such commodity shall not be covered by the scope of the notification. Further, Ball Pen Ink is classified as 'Other Ink' under Central Excise Tariff Heading 32.15. Thus, Ball Pen Ink cannot be classified as Industrial Input under entry 136 of the Notification and is liable to be taxed at the rate of 12.5 <i>per</i> <i>cent</i> instead of 12.5 <i>per cent</i> on sale of Ball Pen Ink valued at ₹ 5.30 crore.	47.70
On th	nis being pointe	d out. the conc	erned JCC	T did not accept (December 2014) our obs	ervation
				pens only and is required to be classified as	
				y of the JCCT is not acceptable as the r	
notifi	cation clarified	where the de	scription ir	n respect of any commodity in the notific	ation is
				g description in the Central Excise Tariff A	ct, 1985
			· · · ·	he scope of the notification.	
4	ACCT, Unit-75, Vapi (1)	12.5 +2.5	4+1	'Litharge' does not fall under any entry of Industrial Inputs under Notification No. GHN-33 dated 31.3.2006 and attracts tax at the rate of 15 <i>per cent</i> including additional tax of 2.5 <i>per cent</i> under entry 87 of the Schedule-II of the Act.	19.12
				The AA during assessment classified the 'Litharge' as industrial input and	

				levied tax on sale turnover of ₹ 1.91 crore at incorrect rate of five <i>per</i> <i>cent</i> including additional tax of one <i>per</i> <i>cent</i> instead of 15 <i>per cent</i> . t accepted (June 2015) the audit observa interest and penalty.	tion and
5	ACCT, Unit-59 Surat (1)	12.5 +2.5	4+1	As per determination dated 13.9.2011 under Section 80 of the GVAT Act, the 'Construction chemicals' viz. 'KEM Bond AR', 'KEM Bond SBR' and 'Roff Bond Repair' fall under entry 87 of Schedule II and attract tax at the rate of 15 <i>per cent</i> including additional tax at the rate of 2.5 <i>per cent</i> . The AA in assessment classified the 'Construction chemicals' viz. 'KEM Bond AR', 'KEM Bond SBR' and 'Roff Bond Repair' as Industrial Inputs (Prepared binders for foundry moulds or cores) under entry 154 of Notification No. GHN-33 dated 31.3.2006 and levied tax at incorrect rate of five <i>per cent</i> instead of 15 <i>per cent</i> .	6.22
The Department did not accept (August 2015) our observation and stated that the dealer had paid the tax treating the chemicals as industrial inputs as per notification GHN-33 dated 31.3.2006. The reply is not acceptable because as per determination dated 13.9.2011 under Section 80 of the GVAT Act, the above goods fall under entry 87 of Schedule II attracting tax at the rate of 15 per cent including additional tax of 2.5 per cent.					
		Total			218.52

We pointed out these cases to the Government in May 2015. The Government confirmed (July/ August 2015) replies of the Department in 13 cases. We are awaiting their replies in the remaining cases (October 2015).

2.5 Short levy of VAT due to escapement of turnover

Section 7(1) of the GVAT Act, 2003 provides for levy of tax on the turnover of sales of goods specified in Schedule II or Schedule III at the applicable rate. Further, under Section 2(24), sale price means the amount of valuable consideration paid or payable to a dealer or received or receivable by a dealer for any sale of goods made including the amount of duties levied or leviable under the Central Excise Tariff Act, 1985 or the Customs Act, 1962 and any sum charged for anything done by the dealer in respect of the goods at the time of or before delivery thereof.

During test check of the assessment records of seven offices³⁵, we noticed³⁶ in assessments of eight dealers³⁷ that there was short levy of tax of ₹ 0.56 crore due to escapement of turnover as mentioned in **Table 2.5**:

³⁵ ACCT-6 Ahmedabad, 102 Jamkhambhalia, 99 Jamnagar, 94 Rajkot, 45, 46 Vadodara and DCCT-DCCT (Enforcement) Vadodara

³⁶ Between September 2013 and July 2014

³⁷ For the year 2006-07, 2008-09 and 2009-10 finalised between February 2011 and March 2013

		(₹ i	n lakh)
SI. No.	Office (No. of dealers)	Nature of observation	Short levy of VAT
1	ACCT, Unit-102, Jamkhambhaliya (1)	The dealer was dealing in batteries which were taxable at the rate of 15 <i>per cent</i> including additional tax of 2.5 <i>per cent</i> . As per Profit and Loss Account, the sales turnover of the dealer was of ₹ 30.11 crore. However, the AA had assessed turnover of sales at ₹ 28.77 crore only on the basis of the returns filed by the dealer without cross checking with the certified accounts. Thus, turnover of ₹ 1.34 crore escaped from levy of tax.	20.17
2	ACCT, Unit-94, Rajkot (1)	As per Schedule of Fixed Assets of Balance Sheet, there was sale of Plant and Machinery/ vehicles worth ₹ 42.83 lakh which were taxable, though were not mentioned in returns. The Assessing Authority (AA) had also not levied any tax on the above sales.	3.54
	risdictional JCCT values of a second strain with the second strain of the second strain of the second strains	ide letter dated 17.4.2014 stated that demand of \gtrless 6.93 la	ıkh had
3	DCCT, Enforcement, Vadodara (1)	The Hon'ble Supreme Court in the case of M/s Mohamed Ekram Khan & Sons (135 STC 515) dated 21- 07-2004 held that warranty claims received from parent company are to be treated as sale of spare parts and tax is to be levied accordingly. As per Profit and Loss Account, the dealer was in receipt of warranty claims worth ₹ 46.06 lakh which were taxable. However, the AA had not levied tax on the above income/ claims.	2.30
4	ACCT, Unit-45, Vadodara (1)	The dealer had effected branch transfer purchases worth $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 13.51 crore, whereas he had paid tax on sales turnover of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 13.07 crore. Considering the opening stock of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 3.51 lakh, closing stock of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 12.01 lakh and profit margin of the dealer at 0.24 <i>per cent</i> , tax was required to be paid on sales turnover of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 13.45 crore. Thus, sales turnover of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 0.38 crore escaped from levy of tax.	1.77
	epartment accepted ssment.	(April 2015) our observation and raised demand of ₹ 6.01	lakh on
5	ACCT, Unit-6, Ahmedabad (1) ACCT, Unit-45, Vadodara (1)	Under Section 2(24) of the GVAT Act, delivery facility charges/ Liquidated Damages incurred before the delivery of goods and recovered from the customers, form the part of sale price and are taxable under the Act. The dealers had recovered 'delivery facility charges'/ 'Liquidated Damages' worth ₹ 1.80 crore from its customers. However, the AA had not levied tax on the above receipts related to sales transactions.	19.72
	s being pointed out, tiated revision proce	the Department accepted (April 2015) our observation in o bedings.	ne case
6	ACCT, Unit-99 Jamnagar (1)	Under Section 2(24) of the GVAT Act, any amount disclosed related to the business, forms the part of sale price and VAT is leviable on it. The dealer had disclosed additional income of ₹ one crore during enforcement proceedings by the Income Tax Department. However, the AA had not considered the above income for the purpose of levy of value added tax.	5.55

Table	2.5
Iant	_

	The concerned JCCT accepted (December 2013) our observation and raised demand of ₹ 12.12 lakh on reassessment			
7	ACCT, Unit-46, Vadodara (1)	Under Section 2(24) of the GVAT Act, the amount of duties levied or leviable under the Central Excise Tariff Act, 1985 form the part of sale price and tax is leviable thereon. The dealer had made payment of ₹ 52.36 lakh to the Central Excise and Customs Department pursuant to survey carried out by the Department. The above amount was required to be included in the sales turnover and assessed to tax. However, the AA had not considered the above amount for the purpose of levy of tax.	2.61	
The Department accepted (April 2015) our observation and raised demand on reassessment.				
	Total			

We pointed out these cases to the Government in May 2015. The Government confirmed (July/ August 2015) replies of the Department in seven cases. We are awaiting their reply in the remaining case (October 2015).

2.6 Non/short levy of tax/ additional tax

Section 7(1) of the GVAT Act, 2003 provides for levy of tax on the turnover of sales of goods specified in Schedule II or Schedule III at the applicable rate. Whereas, Section 7(1A) provides for levy of additional tax at the rate of 2.5 *per cent*/ one *per cent*. Further, as per Section 2(23) of the Act *ibid* sale includes transfer of the right to use any goods for any purpose (whether or not for a specified period) for cash, deferred payment or other valuable consideration.

During test check of the assessment records of four offices³⁸, we noticed³⁹ in five assessments⁴⁰ of four dealers that there was non/ short levy of tax/ additional tax of \gtrless 0.57 crore as mentioned in **Table 2.6**. Besides, interest and penalty is also recoverable, wherever applicable.

			(₹ in lakh)
Sl. No.	Office (No. of dealers)	Nature of observation	Tax/ Additional Tax
1	JCCT, Flying Squad, Ahmedabad (1)	Rule 18 B(3) of GVAT Rules, 2006 provides that the eligible unit availing tax remission shall pay additional tax into Government Treasury after adjusting input tax credit of the additional tax paid on purchases of taxable goods. Out of total additional tax liability of ₹ 83.92 lakh, the dealer was liable to pay additional tax of ₹ 50.33 lakh in cash after adjusting ITC of ₹ 33.59 lakh of additional tax paid on purchases. However, the AA had adjusted the above amount from the total ITC available with the dealer.	50.33
The Department accepted (July 2015) our observation and recovered the amount by adjusting the dues from the amount of refund payable to the dealer.			

Table 2.6

³⁸ ACCT-18 Ahmedabad, 83 Amreli, 45 Vadodara, JCCT: Flying Squad, Ahmedabad

³⁹ between December 2012 and May 2014

⁴⁰ for the year 2008-09 and 2009-10 finalised between February 2012 and March 2014

and raised demand of ₹ 5.75 lakh while revision proceedings had been initiated in the other case.

	Total	56.69
--	-------	-------

We pointed out these cases to the Government in May 2015. The Government confirmed (July/ August 2015) replies of the Department in four cases. We are awaiting their reply in the remaining case (October 2015).

2.7 Non/short reduction/ reversal of Input Tax Credit

During test check of the assessment records of six offices⁴¹, we noticed⁴² in eight assessments⁴³ of eight dealers that the Assessing Authority (AA) had either not reversed/reduced ITC or had reduced ITC less than that was due to the Government side. This had resulted in non/short reduction/reversal of ITC to the extent of ₹ 52.50 lakh. Besides, interest and penalty was also not recovered, as per provisions of the Act as explained in **Table 2.7**:

Table 2.7	
-----------	--

				(₹ in lakh)
SI. No.	Name of office (No. of dealers)	<u>Assessment year</u> Date of assessment	Nature of observation	Non/ short reduction/ reversal of ITC
1	ACCT, Unit-8, Ahmedabad (1)	2008-09 6.3.2013	Under Rule 28(8)(b)(vi-a)(3) of the GVAT Rules, 2006, if a dealer (who has opted for payment of <i>lump-sum</i> tax) has already claimed the tax credit for the goods held in the stock on the date of effect of permission and such goods are going to be used in the works contract for which permission to pay <i>lump-sum</i> tax is sought for, he shall reverse	25.31

⁴¹ ACCT-8,9,11 Ahmedabad, 57 Ankleshwar, 24 Gandhinagar

⁴² Between August 201

⁴² Between August 2013 and September 2014

⁴³ For the year 2008-09, 2009-10 and 2010-11 finalised between April 2012 and September 2013

		1 . 1'.	
		such tax credit. The AA had not reduced ITC on stock of work-in-progress, raw material and consumables worth ₹ 5.77 crore held on the date of opting for permission for payment of <i>lump-sum</i> tax, which were used in the execution of works contract.	
2 ACCT, Unit- 11, Ahmedabad (1), Unit-57, Ankleshwar (3), Unit-24, Gandhinagar (1)	2008-09 and 2009- 10 26.4.2012, 3.11.2012 and 21.6.2012	Section 11(5)(h) prohibits allowance of tax credit on goods used in manufacture of tax free/ exempted goods. We observed in five cases of three offices that the AAs had reduced ITC of ₹ 27.98 lakh instead of ₹ 51.52 lakh on purchases of goods of ₹ 9.55 crore which were used in the job work.	23.53
3 ACCT Unit- 9, Ahmedabad (1)	2009-10 24.8.2012	Section 11(3)(b) of the GVAT Act prescribes for reduction in tax credit at the rate of four <i>per cent</i> of the taxable turnover of purchases branch transferred/ used as raw materials in the manufacture/ packing of goods which are branch transferred out of State. The AA had reduced ITC of ₹ 0.42 lakh only instead of ₹ 2.91 lakh on purchases of goods of $₹ 72.94$ lakh used in the manufacture of goods which were branch transferred out of the State.	2.49
4 DCCT, Range-18, Valsad (1)	2010-11 3.9.2013	Section 11(3)(b)(iii) of the GVAT Act prescribes for reduction in tax credit at the rate of four <i>per cent</i> of the fuels used in the manufacture of goods. The AA had not reduced ITC at the rate of four <i>per cent</i> of purchase of natural gas (fuel) valued at ₹ 29.26 lakh which was	1.17
		used in manufacture of goods.	52.50

After this being pointed out in March 2015, the Department accepted (July 2015) our audit observation in five cases and recovered an amount of ₹ 2.17 lakh in two cases and for the remaining cases, replies are awaited.

We pointed out these cases to the Government in May 2015. The Government confirmed (July/ August 2015) replies of the Department in five cases. We are awaiting their replies in the remaining cases (October 2015).

2.8 Non/ Short levy of interest (VAT/CST)

Under Section 30(5) of the GVAT Act, 2003 where a dealer does not pay the amount of tax within the time prescribed for its payment, then there shall be paid by such dealer for the period commencing on the date of expiry of the aforesaid prescribed time and ending on date of payment of the amount of tax, simple interest at the rate of eighteen *per cent* per annum, on the amount of tax not so paid or on any less amount thereof remaining unpaid during such period. Further, under Section 42(6) of the Act, *ibid*, where the amount of tax assessed or reassessed for any period, exceeds the amount of tax already paid by the dealer for that period, the dealer shall pay simple interest at the rate of eighteen *per cent* per annum on the amount of tax remaining unpaid for the period of default. By virtue of Section 9(2) of the CST Act, provisions of interest and penalty as per GVAT Act, become applicable to CST assessment also.

During test check of the assessment records of six offices⁴⁴, we noticed⁴⁵ in eight assessments⁴⁶ of seven dealers that the AA had calculated interest incorrectly on delayed payment of tax due to incorrect calculation/adoption of period of delay. The AA had levied interest of ₹ 192.06 crore, instead of correct interest of ₹ 194.12 crore, resulting in short levy of interest of ₹ 2.48 crore. Besides, penalty at applicable rates was also leviable. Irregularities in assessments have been explained in **Table 2.8**:

				(₹ in lakh)
SI. No.	Name of office (No. of dealers)	Assessment year Date of assessment	Nature of observation	Non/ Short levy of interest
1	DCCT, Petro-1, Ahmedabad (1)	2009-10 10.02.2014	The Hon'ble Supreme Court of India vide its judgement dated 13 September 2012 directed 'Essar Oil Limited' to pay principal amount of dues with interest at the rate of 10 <i>per cent</i> on reducing balance basis in eight equal quarterly instalments. However, while calculating the interest, the Department calculated the period for payment of tax incorrectly which resulted in short levy of interest.	123.59
2	DCCT, Corporate-1, Division-2, Ahmedabad (1), DCCT, Enforcement-	2009-10 29.03.2013	The AAs were required to calculate the interest for the period from due date of payment of tax till the date of order of assessment. But the interest was levied for the period from the date of completion of assessment period till the date of order of assessment, which resulted in short	58.31

⁴⁴ ACCT-6 Ahmedabad, 33 Kadi, 61 Surat, DCCT: Petro-1, Enforcement-2, Corporate Cell-1, Division-2, Ahmedabad

⁴⁵ Between August 2013 and August 2014

⁴⁶ For the year 2007-08, 2008-09 and 2009-10 finalised between December 2011 and March 2014

	Total			247.62
4	ACCT, Unit-33, Kadi (1) Unit-6, Ahmedabad (1), Unit-61 Surat (1)	2008-09 Self-assessed 2008-09 21.01.2013	The dealer had irregularly availed ITC of ₹ 5.74 lakh in the monthly returns and therefore, was liable to pay output tax to that extent. But, interest at the rate of 18 <i>per cent</i> was not levied by the AA. Besides, interest on the amount of unpaid tax was levied incorrectly to the extent of ₹ 3.74 lakh in two cases by the AAs.	6.86
			The dealer had made payment of an amount of ₹ 29.89 crore which was less than outstanding amount of tax of ₹ 31.70 crore and interest of ₹ 0.51 crore. The AA had not adjusted the amount so paid towards interest first which resulted in short levy of interest of ₹ 58.86 lakh	
3	DCCT, Corporate-1, Division-2, Ahmedabad (1)	2009-10 25.03.2014	Section 30(6) states that where a dealer is liable to pay interest under sub-section (5) or under sub-section (7) of Section 42 and he makes payment of an amount which is less than the aggregate of the amount of tax, penalty and interest, the amount so paid shall be first applied towards the amount of interest, thereafter the balance, if any, towards the amount of tax.	58.86
3	2, Ahmedabad (1) DCCT,	2009-10	levy of interest of ₹ 58.31 lakh. Section 30(6) states that where a	58.

After this being pointed out in March 2015, the Department accepted (May 2015) our observation in six cases and recovered (August 2015) ₹ 3.12 lakh in one case and the reply for the remaining cases is awaited.

We pointed out these cases to the Government in May 2015. The Government confirmed (July 2015) replies of the Department in five cases. We are awaiting their replies in the remaining cases (September 2015).

2.9 Non/ short levy of penalty

During test check of assessment records of five offices⁴⁷, we noticed⁴⁸ in assessments of seven dealers⁴⁹ that there was non/ short levy of penalty of $\mathbf{\xi}$ 1.23 crore as mentioned in **Table 2.9**:

⁴⁷ ACCT-3,6,22 Ahmedabad, 92 Morbi DCCT-17 Surat

⁴⁸ Between August 2013 and August 2014

⁴⁹ For the year 2006-07, 2007-08, 2008-09 and 2010-11 finalised between March 2011 and March 2013

SI. No.	Name of office (No. of dealers)	Nature of observation	(₹ in lakh Non/ short levy of penalty
1	ACCT, Unit-92, Morbi (3), ACCT, Unit-6, Ahmedabad (1)	Section 34(12) provides for levy of penalty not exceeding one and half times of the difference between the tax paid with returns and the amount assessed or reassessed where the tax assessed or reassessed exceeds 25 per cent of the amount of tax already paid. Though the amount of tax assessed (₹ 106.93 lakh) in audit assessment by the AA exceeded the amount of tax paid (₹ 29.77 lakh) by the dealers with returns by more than 25 per cent, no penalty was levied under Section 34(12) of the Act.	115.74
		(July 2015 in respect of one case and August 20 n in all the cases and initiated recovery proceeding	
2	ACCT, Unit-22, Ahmedabad (1) ACCT, Unit-3, Ahmedabad (1) DCCT, Range-17, Surat (1)	Section 31(3) of the GVAT Act, 2003 stipulates that the tax collected and deposited under the provisions of this Act to which a dealer may be held not liable shall not be refunded to the dealer and the amount of such tax shall stand forfeited to the Government. Further, under Section 31(4) of the Act ibid, if any person collects any amount by way of tax in contravention of the provisions of the Act, he shall be liable to pay, in addition to any tax payable, a penalty equal to the amount so collected. We observed in respect of two cases that the dealers had collected tax at the rate of 15 <i>per</i> <i>cent</i> instead of five <i>per cent</i> on sale of Glass Pearls (Beads) and scraps and in another case dealer had collected tax of \gtrless 38.62 lakh instead of \gtrless 37.09 lakh on sale of motor vehicles and their spare parts. Thus, the dealers had collected tax in excess of tax required to be collected as per provisions of the GVAT Act. However, the AAs had not levied any penalty under Section 31(4) of the	7.03

Table 2.9

The Department in respect of one case accepted (July 2015) our observation and initiated recovery proceedings.

The Department did not accept (May 2015) our observation in another case stating that the dealer had sold mixed scrap through tender without categorisation of goods. Hence, the dealer had collected tax at higher rate.

Reply of the Department is not acceptable as the dealer had clearly mentioned category of scrap in sales invoices raised by him which were taxable at the rate of five *per cent*.

The Department did not accept (July 2015) the audit observation in the remaining one case and stated that though dealer had collected the excess amount, he had remitted the excess amount so collected into the Government account. Therefore, penalty is not leviable.

Reply of the Department is not acceptable as the Section 31(3) and 31(4) are separate sections that provide for forfeiture of excess collected amount and levy of penalty respectively.

	Total	122.77

We pointed out these cases to Government in May 2015. The Government confirmed (July/ August 2015) replies of the Department in all the cases.

CHAPTER-III STAMP DUTY AND REGISTRATION FEES

3.1 Tax Administration

The overall control on the levy and collection of stamp duty and registration fees rests with the Revenue Department. The Inspector General of Registration (IGR) and Superintendent of Stamps, Gandhinagar is the head of the Department. The IGR is assisted by the Sub-Registrar (at the district and *taluka* level) whereas the Superintendent of Stamps is assisted by the Deputy Collector (Stamp Duty Valuation Officer) [DC (SDVO)] at the district level.

3.2 Results of Audit

Our test check of records in the offices of Deputy Collectors (Stamp Duty Valuation Organisation) and Sub-Registrars in the State during the year 2014-15 revealed short realisation of stamp duty and registration fees and other irregularities involving ₹ 29.59 crore in 222 cases, which fall under the categories as mentioned in **Table 3.2**:

Sl. No.	Category	No. of cases	Amount (₹ in crore)
1	Misclassification of documents	44	11.23
2	Undervaluation of property	61	3.19
3	Short levy of stamp duty and registration fees	45	5.72
4	Other irregularities	72	9.45
	Total	222	29.59

Table 3.2

During the course of the year, the Department accepted and recovered underassessment and other irregularities of ₹ 55 lakh in 38 cases.

A few illustrative audit observations involving ₹ 12.80 crore are mentioned in the succeeding paragraphs.

3.3 Short levy of stamp duty and registration fees due to misclassification of documents

Under Section 3 of the Gujarat Stamp (GS) Act, 1958, every instrument mentioned in Schedule-I shall be chargeable with duty at the prescribed rates. Further, as defined under Section 2(g) of the Act "conveyance" includes every instrument by which property, whether movable or immovable, or any estate or interest in any property, is transferred to, or vested in, any other person.

During test check of the documents registered with three Sub Registrar Offices¹ during the year 2010 to 2013, we noticed² that three documents were classified on the basis of their titles and the stamp duty and registration fees were levied accordingly. Scrutiny of the recitals of these documents revealed that the documents were misclassified. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of ₹ 7.63 crore as mentioned in **Table 3.3**:

Table 3.3

(₹ in crore)

Sl. No.	Name of office	Number of <u>documents</u> Consideration / Market Value	Stamp duty and registration fees leviable	Stamp duty and registration fees levied	Short levy of stamp duty and registration fees		
1	Sub Registrar-II, Rajkot	<u>1</u> 76.40	4.51	Negligible	4.51		
maxi The l as ca recita owne the in partn Artic	Nature of Observation :- Stamp duty leviable on partnership deed is one <i>per cent</i> subject to maximum of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 10,000 while that leviable on conveyance deeds is 4.9 <i>per cent</i> . The land owner had brought his land admeasuring 46,301 sq. mtr. into the partnership firm as capital contribution by way of execution of registered partnership deed. Scrutiny of recitals of the partnership deed revealed that by way of execution of partnership deed, the ownership of land was conveyed from the individual partner to the partnership firm. Since, the individual partner had agreed to transfer the ownership of his land in the name of partnership firm. The Sub Registrar misclassified the document as partnership deed under Article 44 instead of conveyance deed under Section 2(g) of Schedule-1 to the GS Act. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 4.51 crore.						
2	Sub Registrar-III, Vadodara	$\frac{1}{60.78}$	2.98	Negligible	2.98		
Vadodara Nature of Observation:-Four co-owners of NA land had brought their land into a partnership firm as capital contribution. It was also mentioned in the document that after obtaining NA permission, the name of the firm would be entered in Revenue Records as owner of the said land. As land was transferred by land owners to partnership firm, the document was required to be classified as conveyance and duty was leviable accordingly. The Sub Registrar misclassified the document as partnership deed under Article 44 instead of conveyance deed under Section 2(g) of Schedule-1 to the GS Act. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty of ₹ 2.98 crore.							

3	Sub	<u>1</u>	0.14	Negligible	0.14
	Registrar, Waghodia	2.48			

Nature of Observation:-Land admeasuring 1,886.34 sq. mtr. was in the name of four

² Between November 2013 and October 2014

¹ SR-Rajkot-II, Vadodara-III and Waghodia

partners of a partnership firm M/s Crown Heat Treaters. Thereafter, the said partnership							
firm was dissolved of	n 31.3.2007 with th	e understanding th	at all the assets of	the partnership			
firm shall vest with	one of the partne	ers as proprietor in	n the name of M/	's Crown Heat			
Treaters. Thus, the	said leasehold pro	operty of the part	nership firm was	transferred to			
proprietorship in nan	proprietorship in name of one proprietor. The Sub Registrar misclassified the document as						
deed of rectification instead of conveyance. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty and							
registration fees of ₹ 14 lakh.							
Total				7.63			

We pointed out these cases to Department in March 2015. The Department stated (August 2015) that in one case, demand notice had been issued and in other two cases, proceedings were in progress for revising the demands. We are awaiting their final replies (October 2015).

We pointed out these cases to Government in May 2015. We are awaiting their replies (October 2015).

3.4 Non/ short levy of stamp duty and registration fees

3.4.1 Short levy of stamp duty due to non registration of deeds

As per Section 2(g) of the GS Act, 1958, conveyance includes conveyance on sale or every instrument, by which property, movable or immovable, or any estate or interest in any property, is transferred to, or vested in, any other person, *inter vivos*. A conveyance deed is chargeable with stamp duty at the rate of 4.9 *per cent* of the market value of the property or the consideration for such conveyance, whichever is greater. As per Explanation I below Article 20 (d), an agreement to sale an immovable property or an irrevocable power of attorney shall, in case of transfer of possession of property before, at the time of or after the execution of such agreement or power of attorney, be deemed to be a conveyance and the stamp duty thereon shall be chargeable accordingly.

During test check of the records of two Sub Registrar offices³ for the year 2012, we noticed⁴ from the recitals of 12 documents that there was mention to the effect that unregistered deeds were executed which required levy of stamp duty and registration fees thereon. However, the SR failed to take cognizance of the recitals of the document and did not levy stamp duty and registration fees chargeable on each such transactions. This resulted in non/ short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of \mathbb{Z} 2.62 crore as mentioned in **Table 3.4.1**:

³ SR-Vadodara-I and III

between December 2013 and April 2014

Table 3	.4.1
---------	------

					(₹ in lakh)
Sl. No.	Name of office	Number of documents/ Period of registration of documents	Stamp duty and registratio n fees leviable	Stamp duty and registration fees levied	Non/ short levy of stamp duty and registration fees
1	SR-I,Vadodara SR-III, Vadodara	<u>11</u> January, February, July and October 2012	225.69	-	225.69

Nature of observation:-The recital of eight sale deed documents revealed that the property was conveyed from the land owner to developer without executing any conveyance deed mentioned as follows:-

1. Agreements to sale/ development agreements were executed between land owners and the developers (also called confirming party). 2. The land owners had received the entire amount of consideration in advance. 3. The property was being sold by the land owners and developers. At the time of sale, the developers were stated having the possession of the land. 4. As the developers had paid the entire land cost to the land owner, they shall be entitled to use and develop the FSI.

The "agreements to sale"/ "development agreements" were not found on record in any of the deeds. So it could not be ascertained whether these agreements were registered properly or not. However, since in all these cases confirming party (developer) had got the deed signed by the land owner this indicates that the property was not registered at that time in favour of the developer/ confirming party resulting in short levy of SD and RF.

2	SR-III,	<u>1</u>	36.64	Negligible	36.64
	Vadodara	August 2012			

As per Article 45 (f) of the GS Act, in case of Power of Attorney (PoA) given for consideration and authorizing the attorney to sale any immovable property, stamp duty is leviable as in the case of a conveyance under Article 20.

Nature of observation:-Recital of the document revealed that -1. Agreement to sale had been executed between land owners and the confirming party. 2. The land owner had already received the entire amount of consideration. 3. The property was being sold by the land owner and confirming party. 4. At the time of sale, the confirming party was stated having the possession of the land.

The agreement to sale was not found on record. So it could not be ascertained whether it was registered properly or not. However, since the confirming party has got the deed signed by the land owner this indicates that the property was not registered at that time in favour of the confirming party resulting in short levy of SD and RF.

3.4.2 Short levy of Stamp Duty on documents comprising several distinct matters

Under Section 5 of the Gujarat Stamp Act, 1958, any instrument comprising of several distinct matters or distinct transactions shall be chargeable with aggregate amount of duties with which separate instruments would be chargeable under the Act.

During test check of the records of Sub Registrar office, Gandhinagar for the year 2012, we noticed⁵ in recital of one document that -1. Development

⁵ In February 2014

agreement had been executed between land owner (i.e. confirming party) and the seller (i.e. developer). 2. The seller (i.e. developer) had received the entire amount of consideration and had confirmed the receipt of the same. 3. The property was being sold by developer in the capacity of sellers. 4. At the time of sale, the developer was stated having the possession of the land.

Thus, the document contained more than one distinct matter or transaction which attracts levy of aggregate stamp duty and registration fees. However, the SR failed to take cognizance of the recitals of the document and did not levy the aggregate stamp duty and registration fees chargeable on each such distinct matter. This resulted in non/ short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of \gtrless 22.66 lakh.

We pointed out these cases to Department in March 2015. The Department stated that proceedings were in progress. We are awaiting their final replies (October 2015).

We pointed out these cases to Government in May 2015. We are awaiting their replies (October 2015).

3.5 Short levy of stamp duty and registration fees due to undervaluation of properties

Section 32 A of the Gujarat Stamp Act, 1958 provides that if the officer registering the instrument believes that the consideration set forth in the document presented for registration is not as per the market value of the property, he shall refer the same to the Dy. Collector (Stamp Duty Valuation Organisation) for determination of the market value of the property. The market value of the property is to be determined as per the Gujarat Stamp (Determination of Market Value of the Property) Rules, 1984 and the orders issued thereunder.

During test check of the documents registered with the seven Sub Registrar offices⁶ during the year 2012 and 2013, we noticed⁷ that the market value of the properties was determined incorrectly in 35 documents, which resulted in short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of ₹ 2.32 crore as mentioned in **Table 3.5**:

Table 3.5

			(₹ in lakh)		
Sl. No.	Name of office	<u>Number of documents</u> Period of Registration of documents	Short levy of stamp duty and registration fees		
1	Sub Registrar-III, Surat	<u>3</u> June and October 2012	74.38		
Nature of Observation :-We observed in three conveyance deeds that previously new tenure agricultural lands were converted to old tenure for sale for non-agricultural purpose by orders of the Collector. However, while determining the market value of properties for levy of stamp duty, the Sub Registrar had adopted <i>jantri</i> rates of agricultural lands instead					

 ⁶ SR-Anand, Bharuch, Gandhidham, Gandhinagar, Rajkot-II, Surat-III and Vadodara-III
 ⁷ between November 2013 and October 2014

of *jantri* rates of non-agricultural lands. The stamp duty levied was ₹ 94.16 lakh instead of ₹ 168.54 lakh. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty of ₹ 74.38 lakh. 2 43.66 Sub Registrar-II, Rajkot 22 February and September 2013 Nature of Observation:-We observed in 22 conveyance deeds that the Sub Registrar had adopted *jantri* rates of open plots of value zone 13/0/6/A where *jantri* rate was ₹ 4,000 per sq. mtr. But, conveyed properties fall under various final plot numbers of Draft Town Planning Scheme Number-17 where *jantri* rate was ₹ 8,500 per sq. mtr. The Sub Registrar had adopted incorrect jantri rates while calculating the market value of properties. The stamp duty levied was ₹ 38.91 lakh instead of ₹ 82.57 lakh. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty ₹ 43.66 lakh. 3 Sub Registrar, Anand 2 36.83 June and October 2012 Nature of Observation:-We observed in two conveyance deeds that the Sub Registrar had adopted *jantri* rate of ₹ 2,000 per sq. mtr. for levy of stamp duty in case of properties falling under survey number 2619. In jantri, survey number 2619 falls under two value zones i.e. R/0/1 and R/0/2 where *jantri* rates were ₹ 2,000 per sq. mtr. and ₹ 10,250 per sq. mtr. respectively. The options available for the Sub Registrar were either to adopt higher jantri rate or to refer the document to DC (SDVO) for deciding the correct market value. The stamp duty levied was ₹ 9.91 lakh instead of ₹ 46.74 lakh. Non observance of provisions resulted in short levy of stamp duty of ₹ 36.83 lakh. 4 Sub Registrar, 29.81 4 Gandhinagar June and October 2012 Nature of Observation:- We observed in four conveyance / gift deeds that new tenure agricultural lands were converted to old tenure for sale or gift for non-agricultural purposes by orders of the Collector. However, while determining the market value for levy of stamp duty, the Sub Registrar had considered either consideration amount or market value at agricultural rates as per jantri instead of developed/open land. The stamp duty and registration fees levied was ₹ 25.51 lakh instead of ₹ 55.32 lakh. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of ₹ 29.81 lakh. 15.38 5 Sub Registrar-III, 1 Vadodara February 2012 Nature of Observation:-We observed in case of a conveyance deed that the Sub Registrar had adopted *jantri* rate of revenue survey number, but the land falls under value zone of 2/0/3/B. Thus, Sub Registrar adopted incorrect *jantri* rate for calculation of market value of property for levy of stamp duty. The stamp duty levied was ₹ 24.77 lakh instead of ₹ 40.15 lakh. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty of ₹ 15.38 lakh. 6 Sub Registrar-III, 12.99 1 Vadodara April 2012 Nature of Observation:-We observed in case of a conveyance deed that the purchaser had paid premium price on behalf of seller into Government account for conversion of land into old tenure for non agricultural purpose by order of the Collector. The Sub Registrar had adopted jantri of agricultural land instead of non- agricultural land for calculating the market value of property. The stamp duty levied was \gtrless 11.14 lakh instead of \gtrless 24.13 lakh. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty of ₹ 12.99 lakh. 7 Sub Registrar, Bharuch 11.32 1 June 2012 **Nature of Observation**: We observed in case of a conveyance deed that the purchaser had paid premium price on behalf of seller into Government account for conversation of land into old tenure for non agricultural purpose by order of the Collector. While calculating the consideration amount for levy of registration fees, the Sub Registrar had not taken into

consideration the premium price paid by the purchaser which resulted in short levy of

registration fees. Further, the conveyed land was converted into old tenure for non- agricultural purpose, but the Sub Registrar had adopted <i>jantri</i> rate of agricultural land instead of <i>jantri</i> rate of non-agricultural land for calculating the market value of property for levy of stamp duty. The stamp duty and registration fees levied was ₹ 7.67 lakh instead of ₹ 18.99 lakh. This resulted in short levy of stamp duty and registration fees of ₹ 11.32 lakh.					
8	Sub Registrar, Gandhidham	<u>1</u> February 2012	7.80		
Nature of Observation :-We observed in case of a conveyance deed that the land was purchased for <i>bonafide</i> industrial use under Section 63AA of the Gujarat Tenancy and Agricultural Lands Act, 1948. The Sub Registrar had adopted <i>jantri</i> rate of agricultural land instead of <i>jantri</i> rate of non-agricultural land for calculation of market value and levy of					

We pointed out these cases to Department in March 2015. The Department stated that in one case, document has been adjudicated as properly stamped. In 23 cases, demand notices have been issued. In five cases, orders for recovery of deficit duty have been issued. In one case, \gtrless 11.62 lakh has been recovered. We are awaiting their final replies (October 2015).

stamp duty. The stamp duty levied was ₹ 2.95 lakh instead of ₹ 10.75 lakh. This resulted in

short levy of stamp duty of ₹ 7.80 lakh.

We pointed out these cases to Government in May 2015. We are awaiting their replies (October 2015).

CHAPTER-IV TAXES ON VEHICLES

4.1 Tax Administration

The Commissioner of Transport (CoT) heads the Gujarat Motor Vehicles Department under the administrative control of the Principal Secretary to the Government of Gujarat in the Ports and Transport Department. He is assisted by a Joint Director and two Officers on Special Duty (OSDs) specialised in Enforcement, Administration and Finance in the Head office. There are 14 Regional Transport Offices (RTOs)¹, 17 Assistant Regional Transport Offices (ARTOs)² and two Inspector of Motor Vehicles Offices (IMVs)³. There are 15 check-posts⁴ and three check-points⁵ working under 11 RTOs/ ARTO.

4.2 Working of Internal Audit Wing

The Department has an Internal Audit Wing which comprises three Auditors and three Sub-auditors. This wing was to conduct internal audit of RTO offices and Check-posts as per the audit programme approved by the CoT. During the year 2014-15, the Department stated that the internal audit was done in accordance with the approved plans.

4.3 **Results of Audit**

Our test check of records in the offices of CoT, RTOs and ARTOs in the State during the year 2014-15 revealed under-assessment of tax and other irregularities involving ₹ 9.68 crore in 41 cases, which fall under the categories as mentioned in **Table 4.3**:

Sl. No.	Category	No. of cases	Amount (₹ in crore)
1	Audit of registration and safety of school buses, vans, etc. under Motor Vehicles Act	1	
2	Non/short levy of motor vehicles tax	20	8.87
3	Other irregularities	20	0.81
	Total	41	9.68

During the course of the year, the Department accepted and recovered underassessment and other irregularities of $\gtrless 0.63$ crore in three cases.

¹ Ahmedabad, Bhavnagar, Godhra, Himmatnagar, Jamnagar, Junagadh, Kutchh-Bhuj, Mehsana, Nadiad, Palanpur, Rajkot, Surat, Vadodara, Valsad

 ² Ahmedabad(East), Amreli, Anand, Bardoli, Bharuch, Botad, Dahod, Dang-Ahwa, Gandhinagar, Gir-Somnath, Mahisagar-Lunavada, Navsari, Patan, Porbandar, Rajpipla, Surendranagar, Vyara

³ Gandhidham, Modasa

⁴ Ambaji, Amirgadh, Bhilad, ChhotaUdepur, Dahod, Gudari-Thavar, Jamnagar, Kaparda, Sagbara, Samkhiyali, Shamlaji, Songadh, Tharad, Waghai, Zalod

⁵ Adesar, Hazira, Surajbari

A paragraph of "**Registration and safety of school buses, vans, etc. under Motor Vehicles Act**" and few illustrative audit observations involving ₹ 4.57 crore are mentioned in the succeeding paragraphs.

4.4 Audit of Registration and Safety of School Buses, Vans etc. under the Motor Vehicles Act

4.4.1 Introduction

The registration, assessment and collection of tax from school buses and school vans is governed by the Central Motor Vehicles Act, 1988 (CMV Act), Central Motor Vehicles Rules, 1989 (CMV Rules), Gujarat Motor Vehicles Rules, 1989 (GMV Rules), Gujarat Motor Vehicles Tax Act, 1958 (GMVT Act) and Rules made thereunder. Section 2(11) of the CMV Act defines "educational institution bus" as an omnibus, which is owned by a college, school or other educational institution and used solely for the purpose of transporting students or staff of the educational institution in connection with any of its activities. In addition to this, vans and auto rickshaws are also used in carrying the school children.

Section 40 of CMV Act stipulates that a motor vehicle should be registered by the registering authority in whose jurisdiction the owner of the motor vehicle resides or where the motor vehicle is normally kept. Section 66 of CMV Act lays down that no motor vehicle shall be used as a transport vehicle without a permit issued by transport authorities to use the vehicle in a public place. The vehicle plying should also carry a valid certificate of fitness issued under Section 56. Further, the vehicle owner is required to maintain the vehicle in accordance with the requirements of this Act and the rules made thereunder.

Rule 119 of GMV Rules contains safety provisions relating to number of passengers allowed, seating arrangement, opening of passengers' compartment, speed of vehicle etc., to be adhered to by public service vehicles *viz.*, educational institution bus, motor cab (known as auto-rickshaw for carriage of children and infants). The Commissioner of Transport (CoT) issued circulars dated 20.6.2006 and 11.10.2011 respectively⁶ to all Regional Transport Officers (RTO) for ensuring the safety of the school children carried by school bus, vans and auto-rickshaws (**Annexure**).

4.4.2 Audit Scope

We conducted the Audit with a view to ascertain whether the Department followed the norms prescribed for registration, issuance of permit, fitness certificates, special permission to school buses, vans and auto-rickshaws and also monitored the compliances made by the vehicle owners with regard to safety norms as stipulated in the Acts, Rules and instructions *ibid*.

We selected five RTOs i.e. Ahmedabad, Rajkot, Surat and Vadodara (being major cities of the State) and Anand (being city with more educational

⁶ High Court Judgment dated 24 April 2006 and Supreme Court guidelines as cited in Ministry of Road Transport and Highways letter dated 3 June 2011.

institutions) and the office of the CoT.

As per the information furnished by the Department, there were 4,933 school buses in the State out of which we scrutinized the records of school buses and vans in five RTOs pertaining to the period from 2011-12 to 2014-15. These five RTOs had 2,797 school buses within their jurisdiction.

Audit Findings

4.4.3 Inadequate maintenance of records

The RTOs are required to maintain records relating to registration of vehicles and issuance/ renewal of the permit and fitness certificates. As per Rule 49 of CMV Rules 1989, a register called "Register of Motor Vehicles" in required to be maintained in Form 24. The register contains all the details such as the date of registration of vehicle, its make, chassis/engine number, unladen weight, validity of registration, name and address of owner, date of permit issued and date of issue of fitness certificate, etc., but does not have the provisions for recoding the date of renewal of permit and of fitness certificate. Absence of these provisions has resulted in lack of monitoring of renewal of permits and fitness certificates as discussed in the following paragraphs.

Permit Registers: The details of permits issued and renewed are recorded in the Permit Register as per the format prescribed (May 2006) by the CoT. After registration of school bus, van/ maxi cabs and auto rickshaws in the concerned RTO, the permit is issued for a period of five years for using the vehicle as transport vehicle. The permit is due for renewal after every five years. Audit observed that the format prescribed for Permit Register by the CoT did not require maintaining of details regarding permit issued and its renewal in a separate page for each vehicle. Hence, the selected five RTOs were maintaining the details of permit issued and its renewal in a separate page for each vehicle, the vehicle details and the date of issue of permit and its renewal. As the details in Permit Register were not maintained in a separate page for each vehicle, the number of vehicle owners, who did not renew their permit from time to time could not be ascertained either from Permit Register or from Register of Motor Vehicles.

Test check of entries in permit register and other relevant records of selected RTOs for the period 2011-12 to 2014-15 revealed that validity of permits had expired in 458 cases out of 2,797 cases. There was nothing on record produced to Audit to indicate that these permits were renewed and whether these vehicles were plying after expiry of their validity period of five years.

Thus, due to absence of the system, the information regarding due date of renewal of permits or school buses running without permits could not be ascertained in time by the RTO. These vehicles were also liable to pay permit fees amounting to \mathbf{E} 1.60 lakh and penalty of \mathbf{E} 0.46 lakh. It was further noticed that the permit module available in the VAHAN software was not made operational.

After this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated (September 2015) that the

permit module incorporated in the VAHAN software was at its final stage of verification and the details of renewal of permit would be incorporated in Form-24. Further, it was intimated that in the above cases, the Department had recovered \gtrless 0.41 lakh in 116 cases. He further stated that though the responsibility of getting the permit renewed rests with the owners of transport vehicle, necessary steps would be taken to raise awareness in this regard among the vehicle owners.

Fitness Certificate Register: As per Rule 65 of CMV Rules 1989 the details of fitness certificates issued and renewed are required to be maintained in a register with a separate page for each vehicle, like registration number, name and address of owner, permit issued, certificate of fitness issued and renewed etc.

After registration of school bus, van/maxi cabs and auto rickshaws in the concerned RTO, fitness certificate is issued for period of one year. The fitness certificate is subject to a number of safety standards fixed by the Department and functioning of various items⁷ of vehicles. The fitness certificate is due for renewal annually.

Audit observed that though fitness certificate register was maintained by each RTO, the details of fitness certificates issued and renewal made were not maintained in a separate page(s) for each vehicle/ class of vehicle; instead these were maintained date wise. No report was generated to ascertain from time to time the number of vehicles that required renewal of fitness certificates. This is briefly discussed in the following paragraph.

Scrutiny of records of selected five RTOs for audit revealed that 2,250 registered school buses required renewal as on 31 March 2015 as these were registered up to 31 March 2013 under their jurisdiction. There was no mechanism with the Department to ascertain the number of vehicles that had obtained/ applied for the renewal of fitness certificates. Consequently, the number of defaulters was not available with the Department. This jeopardizes safety of school children besides, the possible non-realisation of fitness certificate renewal fee. The fitness module in the VAHAN software was not made operational as of 31 March 2015.

After this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated (September 2015) that in the VAHAN software, fitness module had been incorporated *w.e.f.* June 2015. They had also instructed (June 2015) all RTOs/ ARTOs to cross-check the records maintained in the registration branch with that of fitness branch so that the number of vehicles plying on road without valid fitness certificates could be ascertained. He further stated that though the responsibility of getting the fitness certificate renewed rests with the owners of transport vehicle, necessary steps would be taken to raise awareness in this regard among the vehicle owners.

⁷ Spark plug, high tension cable, head lamp, other lights, rear view mirror, horn, silencer, exhaust emission, breaking system, speedometer, steering, gear etc.
4.4.4 Availability of testing instruments

As per Rule 63 of the CMV Rules 1989, an operator of an authorised testing station shall maintain in good condition the basic fitness testing instruments i.e. the equipment and apparatus for undertaking tests pertaining to exhaust gas, engine tuning, engine analysis, smoke emission, brake system, head-lights, wheel alignment, compressors, speedometers and other like components.

As per the information obtained from four RTOs⁸ out of five RTOs, instruments like automatic wheel alignment and balancing machine, break testing machine, headlight testing machine, exhaust analyser for fuels, suspension testing machine were not available with them. Thus, it could not be ascertained how in absence of these instruments the fitness certificates were granted. Any compromise with these safety norms would endanger the safety of school children.

After this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated (September 2015) that (i). At present, testing of wheel alignment is done in the service centres of manufacturers. (ii). Testing of brakes, headlights, etc. is done manually by Inspector of Motor Vehicles. (iii). Testing of pollution under control (PUC) is done in 687 PUC centres approved by the Government in the State.

However, there was nothing on record to indicate that any vehicle has been sent to the manufacturer for testing of wheel alignment and the mechanism to be adopted in ensuring that the manufacturer is properly testing the wheel alignment.

Similarly, the Act provides for conducting checks for testing of brakes and headlights with the help of break testing machine, headlight testing machine etc. The human error in manual testing of these safety norms cannot be ruled out. The Department may follow the provisions of the Act strictly with regard to the safety norms of the vehicles.

4.4.5 Monitoring of safety norms

Based on the judgments of High Court and Supreme Court, the CoT issued circulars dated 20.6.2006 and 11.10.2011 respectively to all RTOs for ensuring the safety of the school children carried by school bus, vans and autorickshaws. The circular *inter alia* provides for availability of first aid box, fire extinguisher, fitting of speed governor of specified standard in the bus, sealing of windows with grill, painting of buses in yellow colour indicating it as school bus on duty with contact details of school name and telephone numbers, employment of experienced driver and qualified attendant to attend to school children in bus, etc.

The implementation of these instructions was test checked in the selected five RTOs and the audit findings are discussed in the following paragraphs:

⁸ Rajkot, Surat, Vadodara and Anand

• Total 3,81,638 vans/ maxi cabs and auto rickshaw were registered upto March 2015. The exact number of school vans/ maxi cab was not available with the Department. As per the information furnished by three RTOs *viz.*, Surat, Vadodara and Anand, only 691 owners of vans/ maxi cabs and auto rickshaws carrying the school children had obtained the special permission. In these cases also the name of the owner or the registration number of the vehicle was not maintained in a separate register for monitoring of safety norms from time to time as prescribed by the Department.

The three RTOs stated that they did not have any details of and control over vans/ maxi cabs and auto rickshaws carrying the school children. RTO, Rajkot had stated that no owner of vans/ maxi cabs and auto rickshaws carrying the school children had obtained the special permission. RTO, Ahmedabad had not furnished the details in this regard.

• The Chief Secretary, Government of Gujarat had suggested (July 2006) that a team of RTO and City Police should stand outside some of bigger schools in Ahmedabad in the morning when the school starts or in the afternoon when the school closes and see for themselves how blatantly the regulations for carrying school children are being violated by three wheelers. Despite these instructions, there was nothing on records produced to audit to indicate that any special checking was carried out either at Ahmedabad or any other test-checked office.

After this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated (September 2015) that the National Informatics Centre had been asked (August 2015) to maintain separate database for school buses, vans, auto rickshaws, etc. The Department had also instructed (June 2015) all RTOs/ ARTOs to conduct special checking of school buses, vans, auto rickshaws, etc.

4.4.6 Overcrowding

Rule 119(1)(2) of GMV Rules provides for the number of children that may be carried in a public service vehicle. A child of not more than 12 years of age shall be reckoned as one-half. Further, the Rule states that for the purpose of carrying school children, in excess of the three children may be carried in a motor cab ordinarily known as an auto-rickshaw subject to the conditions that additional seating arrangements shall be made in the passenger compartment and the vehicle shall not carry more than the number of school children as may have been permitted by the registering authority in respect of each individual vehicle depending on the seating arrangement provided in that vehicle.

The Department had issued a Circular in May 2005 instructing that in every quarter, all RTOs should compulsorily carry out checking of the autorickshaws carrying excess school children than the permitted limit for taking necessary action. No record was made available/ produced to audit to indicate that any checking was done to trace the overloading of school children in vans/ auto rickshaws.

A few violations⁹ are mentioned in the **Table 4.4.6**:

Table 4.4.6

SI. No.	Norms prescribed	Nature of violation of norms	Remarks
1.	As per the norms prescribed, the body of school vans should be painted yellow and number plate should be yellow. Non-public vehicles were not authorised to transport the school children.	We noticed that vans other than yellow coloured body and number plate were carrying the school children.	This indicated that non-public vehicles were deployed for transport of school children in violation of the instructions.
2, 3 and 4	As per the norms, no school child should be seated in the driver's compartment. The auto rickshaws should be fitted with safety grills, one side locked and should have name of the school and the telephone numbers, etc.	The school children were found seated in the vicinity of the driver. No safety grills were found. The doors were open on both sides. Name of school and telephone number were not mentioned on the auto rickshaws.	Had the Department carried out joint inspection by RTO and Police Department, these safety norms could have been taken care of.



1. Colour of the number plate indicates that non transport vehicle carries school children-Ahmedabad



3. Carrying school children on the lap of driver - Anand



2. Seating of school children on the side of driver seat - Vadodara



4. Overloading of children in the passenger compartment -Anand

⁹ Based on the photographs of school vans/ maxi cab and auto-rickshaw, which were carrying school children a copy of which was endorsed to the Department

Further, it was observed that during 2011-12 to 2014-15, the flying squad of CoT conducted 49 surprise checks in respect of transport vehicles, of which only one surprise check was conducted in respect of school buses and vans where two defaulters were found. Thus, role of flying squad was negligible as far as controlling the menace of the vehicles overloading the school children.

After this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated (September 2015) that all the RTOs/ ARTOs have been instructed (June 2015) to monitor in liaison with the school authorities the carriage of school children by school buses, vans, auto rickshaws, etc. as per the permits issued and to take punitive action against the vehicle owners in case of overcrowding. Further, school buses, vans, auto rickshaws, etc. would be checked every month for compliance of permit conditions.

4.4.7 Delay in fitment of HSRP plate

In order to curb the illegal sale/purchase and theft of vehicles in the country and to identify the vehicles used in crimes, traffic offences and hit and run cases, the Ministry of Road Transport and Highways (the Ministry) had in coordination with expert teams developed a systematic and effective device for identification of vehicles. This unique system of displaying the vehicles registration number called as High Security Registration Plate (HSRP) was developed as per specifications laid down by the Ministry *vide* notification dated 16 October 2001.

The Government of Gujarat entered into a contract for fitment of HSRP with FTA Solutions Pvt. Ltd (the Company) only on 26 May 2012. The Company started the work of fitment of HSRP to newly registered vehicle *w.e.f.* 16 November 2012. The CoT *vide* order dated 17 June 2014 had ordered all RTOs for fitment of HSRP to already registered school buses during summer vacations on priority basis and the work was to be completed by 30 June 2014. However, three RTOs viz., Surat, Vadodara and Anand stated (March 2015) that no work was done by them in this regard. Two RTOs *viz.*, Ahmedabad and Rajkot had not furnished any reply with regard to the implementation of CoT order dated 17 June 2014. Further, it was observed that laser detector cameras which were required to be installed on important roads and intersections to capture footage of speeding/overloading/stolen vehicles by scanning HSRP were also not installed anywhere. This defeats the very purpose of fitment of HSRP in vehicles.

On this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated that all the RTOs/ ARTOs had been instructed (August 2015) to complete the pending work of fitment of HSRP plates on priority basis during vacations/ public holidays. After completion of work of fitment of HSRP in old/ newly registered vehicles, application for procurement of laser detector cameras would be submitted to Government.

4.4.8 Levy of Motor Vehicles Tax on School buses

According to Section 3 read with Section 4 of the GMVT Act, motor vehicles tax shall be levied and collected in advance by 7th day of respective month on all motor vehicles which are used or kept for use in the State, at the rates notified from time to time. However, a vehicle owner may file declaration in advance if he does not intend to use or keep for use the vehicle in the State. These declarations are noted in the tax index cards/registers. Section 12 of the Act, *ibid*, authorises the Department to recover unpaid tax as arrears of land revenue. Section 12B empowers the Department to detain and keep in custody the vehicles of those owners who defaulted in payment of Government dues.

During test check of registration and recovery registers, VAHAN system and other relevant records of five RTOs, for the period 2011-12 to 2014-15, it was noticed in 174 cases out of 2,797 cases; operators of school buses had neither paid tax nor filed non-use declarations for various periods. The demand notices were also not issued. Though the tax remained unpaid for more than 30 days from the due date, the RTOs had not initiated any action u/s 12 and 12-B of the Act *ibid* by stopping or seizing/detaining the vehicles. This resulted in non levy of MVT of ₹ 19.08 lakh excluding interest and penalty.

After this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated (September 2015) that in 111 cases, an amount of ₹ 9.44 lakh had been recovered. In remaining cases, demand notices were issued.

4.4.9 Conclusions and Recommendations

We scrutinised the process of registration of school buses/ vans and autorickshaws and their compliance with the existing safety norms. There are some areas of concern, which are highlighted as follows:

• We observed that due to inadequate maintenance of records of registration, issue of permit and fitness certificates, the Department was not in a position to properly monitor the renewal of permits and fitness certificates.

Records should be maintained in such a way that number of permits and fitness certificates issued as well as number of vehicles plying without permits /fitness certificates at a particular point of time can be ascertained.

• The system of ensuring the compliance with the existing safety norms was not adequate.

Periodical checking of school vans and auto rickshaws on road should be made compulsory. Involvement of flying squad in checking of school buses/vans and auto rickshaws should be enhanced.

• The Department was unable to curb the menace of overcrowding of school buses/ vans and auto rickshaws despite the restriction of maximum passengers that are allowed to be carried. Thus, safety of school children was compromised.

Rules regarding seating capacity should be observed strictly. The schools may also be invited to assist the RTOs for monitoring and taking action against the vehicle owners carrying excess school children.

4.5 Non-realisation of motor vehicles tax on transport vehicles

The Gujarat Motor Vehicles Tax (GMVT) Act, 1958 prescribes that owner of contract carriage and goods carriage vehicles are required to pay assessed tax on monthly/half yearly/ yearly basis respectively except for the period where the vehicles are not in use. In case of delay in payment, interest at the rate of one and half *per cent* per month is leviable. If the delay exceeds one month, a penalty at the rate of two *per cent* per month subject to a maximum of 25 *per cent* of tax is also chargeable. Section 12 of the Act, *ibid*, authorises the Department to recover unpaid tax as arrears of land revenue. Section 12B empowers the Department to detain and keep in custody the vehicles of those owners who defaulted in payment of Government dues.

During test check of the Demand and Collection Registers and VAHAN system of four taxation authorities¹⁰ between July 2014 and October 2014, we noticed that operators of 312 omnibuses¹¹/ maxi cabs¹², who kept their vehicles for use exclusively as contract carriage and 367 vehicles used for transport of goods had neither paid tax nor filed non-use declarations for various periods between 2008-09 and 2013-14. There was no proper monitoring system to trace such vehicles in default. The Departmental officials failed to issue demand notices and take recovery action prescribed in the Act which shows weak internal control system in the Department. The Department neither invoked provisions of Section 12 nor took action under Section 12B. This resulted in non-realisation of motor vehicles tax amounting to ₹ 4.57 crore. Besides, interest and penalty was also leviable at the rates prescribed in the Act.

On this being pointed out in audit, the CoT stated (July 2015) that in 166 cases, an amount of ₹ 54 lakh had been recovered. In remaining cases also, demand notices were issued.

We pointed out these cases to the Government in March 2015. Reply of the Government is awaited (October 2015).

¹⁰ Bhuj, Narmada, Porbandar and Rajkot

¹¹ any motor vehicle constructed or adapted to carry more than six persons excluding the driver

¹² any motor vehicle constructed or adapted to carry more than six persons, but not more than 12 passengers excluding the driver, for hire or reward

CHAPTER-V OTHER TAX AND NON-TAX RECEIPTS

5.1 **Results of Audit**

Our test check of records in the Revenue Department, offices of the Collectors and Mamlatdars (LR) and various departmental officers relating to Electricity Duty and Mining Receipts in the State during the year 2014-15 revealed underassessment of tax and other irregularities involving ₹ 34.13 crore in 255 cases, which fall under the categories as mentioned in **Table 5.1**:

Sl. No.	Category	No. of cases	Amount (₹ in crore)
Α	Land Revenue		
1	Non/short levy of occupancy price/premium	35	13.77
	price		
2	Non/short recovery of Non Agricultural	119	10.88
	Assessment and conversion tax		
3	Other irregularities	48	5.62
	Total	202	30.27
В	Electricity Duty		
1	Non/short recovery of inspection fees, Non/ short	15	1.37
	levy of Electricity Duty/ Irregular refund of		
	Electricity Duty		
2	Other irregularities	1	0.15
	Total	16	1.52
С.	Mining Receipts		
1	Non/short levy of dead rent/surface rent and	16	1.17
	royalty/interest		
2	Other irregularities	21	1.17
	Total	37	2.34
	Grand Total	255	34.13

Table	5.1
-------	-----

During the course of the year, the Department(s) accepted and recovered under-assessment and other irregularities of \mathbf{E} 5.46 crore in 46 cases.

A few illustrative audit observations involving \gtrless 5.67 crore are mentioned in the succeeding paragraphs.

5.2 Short levy of premium price

As per the Government of Gujarat, Revenue Department Resolutions¹ issued under Section 43 of the Gujarat Tenancy and Agricultural Lands Act, 1948 in case of conversion of land under new and restricted tenure to old tenure, premium at the prescribed rates is required to be recovered by the concerned collector. The market value of the property is determined in accordance with the *jantri*² rates and subject to the conditions prescribed therein.

During test check of the records including the orders for change of tenure of land of four Collector offices³ for the period 2012-13 and 2013-14, we noticed⁴ that premium price of ₹ 5.67 crore was short recovered in six cases. These cases have been explained in **Table 5.2**.

Sl. No.	Name of Collector/ Number of cases / Date of Assessment	Nature of observation	Non/short levy of premium price (₹ in lakh)
1	Gandhinagar <u>and Surat</u> <u>3</u> July 2013 January and March 2013	The Government Resolution dated 3.12.2011 provides that where the market value of the property is not prescribed in the <i>jantri</i> in the case of conversion of land under new and restricted tenure to old tenure for residential purposes, twice the agricultural rate of the same survey number of the property should be considered for the purpose of levy of premium. The rate of premium was 40 <i>per</i> <i>cent</i> of the market value of the property. The Collector converted the land under new and restricted tenure to old tenure for non-agricultural purpose. The rates of the land for residential purposes were not provided in the <i>jantri</i> . As such, twice the market value available for agricultural land was required to be taken into consideration for the purpose of levy of premium. Accordingly, a premium of ₹ 11.80 crore on market value of ₹ 29.50 crore was required to be paid instead of ₹ 7.18 crore on the market value of ₹ 17.96 crore levied by the Collector. Though the Collector had applied non-agricultural rates, but these were calculated at the rates available in the vicinity of the land.	461.69
2	Collector (LR), <u>Valsad</u> <u>2</u> December 2013 and May 2014	Government Resolution dated 18.12.2004 provides that in case of conversion of new-tenure land to old tenure, premium price is to be recovered on the estimated value as per <i>jantri</i> rates or sale consideration of land, whichever is higher. The rate of premium was 40 <i>per cent</i> of the market value of the property. As per the two conveyance deeds, two industrial undertakings had purchased new and restricted tenure land for <i>bonafide</i> industrial purpose for a consideration of ₹ 2.67 crore. However, the Collector considered the market value of land of ₹ 58.93 lakh as per <i>jantri</i> rates and recovered premium accordingly. After we pointed this out, the Collector (LR), Valsad intimated that in one case the applicant had paid the deficit premium price	83.37

Table 5.2

Dated 13 July 1983 read with the Resolution No NBJ-102006-S 71-J (Part 2) dated 04.07.2008
Annual Statement of Rates issued by the Government showing the rates for the purpose of determination of value of immovable properties and levy of stamp duty.

³ Gandhinagar, Surat, Vadodara and Valsad

⁴ March to November 2014

		of ₹ 51.24 lakh under protest while the reply in another case has not been received.	
3	Collector (LR), <u>Vadodara,</u> <u>1</u> May 2006	Government Resolutions dated 16.03.1982 and 18.12.2004 provide that in case of new-tenure land converted into old tenure land, if sold subsequently at higher price, premium should be recovered either at the estimated price as per <i>jantri</i> or price received at the time of sale whichever is higher. The rate of premium was 75 <i>per cent</i> of the market value of land.	22.38
		The Collector had recovered premium price of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 20.27 lakh at the date of conversion from new to old tenure on the market value of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 27.02 lakh on 08.05.2006. However, the applicant sold the property on 19.05.2006 for $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 56.87 lakh indicating therein the value of land was assessed short by $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 29.85 lakh involving short levy of premium of $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ 22.38 lakh.	
	Total		<u>6 cases</u> 567.44

We pointed out these cases to the Department in March 2015 and to the Government in May 2015; their replies have not been received (October 2015).

k

Ahmedabad The 24 February 2016

(Y. N. THAKARE) Principal Accountant General (Economic & Revenue Sector Audit) Gujarat

Countersigned

New Delhi The 25 February 2016

(SHASHI KANT SHARMA) Comptroller and Auditor General of India

Annexure (Reference: Paragraph 4.4.1)

The following guidelines of Supreme Court of India must be added to the conditions of permit:

- 1. 'School Bus' must be written on the back and front of the bus.
- 2. School buses should be painted yellow.
- 3. If it is a hired bus, "On school duty" should be clearly indicated.
- 4. Bus must have a first aid box.
- 5. The windows of bus should be fitted with horizontal grills.
- 6. School name and telephone number must be written on the bus.
- 7. The doors of the bus should be fitted with reliable locks.
- 8. There should be sufficient space beneath the seats to keep the school bags safely.
- 9. There should be a qualified attendant in the bus to attend the children.
- 10. The driver of the bus should be qualified.
- 11. The driver should have at least five years of experience of driving heavy vehicles and should not have involved in any traffic offence on any earlier occasion.
- 12. Parents/ guardians and/ or school teacher(s) travelling in the bus should ensure these safety norms.
- 13. There should be fire extinguishers in the bus.
- 14. A driver who has been challaned on two or more occasions in a year for offences like red light jumping, violation of lane discipline or allowing unauthorised person to drive vehicle cannot be employed.
- 15. A driver who has been challaned even once for the offence of over speeding, drunken driving and dangerous driving cannot be employed.

© COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA www.cag.gov.in

www.paggujarat.gov.in